

SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND MANAGEMENT

Master's Programme in Innovation and Global Sustainable Development

Cities and the Triple Bottom Line

The Causal Effect of Socio-Economic Sustainability on Environmental Sustainability

by Riccarda Schmid, ri5071sc-s@student.lu.se

Abstract

Cities are experiencing substantial population growth, they generate about 80 percent of global GDP and they are in power of local legislation. This makes them crucial actors in facing sustainability challenges. A framework that allows for a holistic approach to sustainability is the triple bottom line, which advocates for joint consideration of social, economic, and environmental development. In practice, these three dimensions are mostly considered separately without paying attention to causal relationships among each other. However, understanding these causalities is necessary for designing effective sustainability strategies and accurately assessing city sustainability. This study provides evidence for the causal effects of social and economic sustainability on environmental sustainability. To avoid simultaneity bias, this study applies a shock-based instrumental variable approach, which isolates the causal effect of socio-economic on environmental sustainability from the causal effect in the reverse direction. The study sample encompasses 60 German cities, for which data was collected for 30 indicators between the years 2000 and 2013. The chosen shock is the financial crisis of 2007, as it has strongly and directly affected socio-economic indicators, but not environmental indicators. The empirical analysis of the data confirms the presence of causality from social on environmental sustainability, as well as from economic on environmental sustainability. This implies that changes in one socio-economic sustainability do not translate into equivalent changes in overall sustainability, but are accompanied with further changes, that need to be considered.

Keywords: city sustainability, triple bottom line, strong sustainability, shock-based instrumental variables, Doughnut economics

EKHS34 Master's Thesis (15 ECTS) June 2022 Supervisor: Huiwen Gong Examiner: Jutta Bolt Word Count: 15'933

Table of Contents

1	Intr	oduction	.1
	1.1	Research Problem	. 1
	1.2	Aim and Scope	. 3
	1.3	Outline of the Thesis	. 3
2	Pre	vious Research and Theoretical Framework	. 4
	2.1	Defining Urban Sustainability	.4
	2.2	Sustainability Concepts in Cities	. 6
	2.2.	1 Sustainable Cities and the Triple Bottom Line	.7
	2.2.1	2 Smart Cities	. 9
	2.3	Sustainability Assessment in Cities	.9
	2.3.	1 Requirements for Sustainability Assessment Indices	10
	2.3.	2 The Doughnut Model	10
	2.3.	3 Deficiencies of Indicator Assessment	12
3	Dat	a	13
	3.1	Selection of Variables	13
	3.2	Selection of Cities and Study Period	15
	3.3	Reliability and Representativeness of the Data	16
	3.4	Limitations through Data Unavailability	16
4	Met	hods	17
	4.1	The Problem of Simultaneity	17
	4.2	Shock-based Instrumental Variable Approach	18
	4.2.	1 Instrumental Variables	18
	4.2.	2 Regression Discontinuity	19
	4.3	Regression Equations	20
5	Em	pirical Analysis	21
	5.1	Results	21
	5.1.	1 Descriptive Statistics	21
	5.1.	2 The Relationship Between the Shock and the Social and Economic Indicators2	23
	5.1.	3 The Relationship Between the Shock and the Environmental Indicators	27
	5.1.4	4 2SLS Estimation of the Causal Effect	28
	5.2	Discussion	31
	5.2.	1 First-stage Regressions	31
	5.2.	2 Second-stage Regression	32

5.3	Limitations	35
5.3.	Model Construction	35
5.3.2	2 Data Availability	36
5.3.3	3 Sample Selection	36
5.3.4	4 Shock Misspecification	37
Con	clusion	41
6.1	Research Aims	41
6.2	Practical Implications	42
6.3	Future Research	42
opendi	x A	52
opendi	x B	53
opendi	x C	55
	5.3 5.3. 5.3. 5.3. 5.3. 6.1 6.2 6.3 opendi opendi	 5.3 Limitations

List of Tables

Table 3.1:	Variables Used in the Analysis.	. 14
Table 5.1:	Descriptive Statistics.	. 22
Table 5.2:	OLS Regressions of Social and Economic Indicators on the Post-shock	
	Dummy, Large F-Statistic.	23
Table 5.3:	OLS Regressions of Social and Economic Indicators on the Post-shock	
	Dummy, Small F-Statistic.	. 24
Table 5.4:	2SLS Estimates of the Causal Effect of Social and Economic Variables on	
	Environmental Variables, Variables with Stronger Effect	. 29
Table 5.5:	2SLS Estimates of the Causal Effect of Social and Economic Variables on	
	Environmental Variables, Variables with Weaker Effect.	. 30
Table 5.6:	2SLS Coefficient Estimates Using 2008-2009 as the Threshold	. 38
Table 5.7:	2SLS Coefficient Estimates Using 2004-2005 as the Threshold	. 39
Table B.1:	List of Cities in the Study Sample	. 53
Table C.1:	Overview of the Algebraic Signs Necessary for an Improvement of	
	Sustainability for Different Combinations of Constraint and Maximization	
	Indicators	. 59

List of Figures

Figure 1.1:	Examples of Causal Relationships Found in Previous Studies2
Figure 2.1:	Illustration of Weak (Left) and Strong (Right) Sustainability (author's illustration,
	based on Wu, 2013, p.1002)
Figure 2.2:	Illustration of the Triple Bottom Line (author's illustration, based on Wu, 2013,
	p.1002)7
Figure 2.3:	The Doughnut Model, as Proposed by Raworth (author's illustration, based on
	Raworth, 2017, p.50)11
Figure 5.1:	Scatterplots for (1) daycare, (2) inf_mortality, (3) u65_death, (4) road_death, (5)
	soc_assistance, (6) soc_housing, (7) unempl_rate, (8) activity_rate, (9) companies,
	and (10) insolvency, with linear pre- and post-shock trendline, 2000-201325
Figure 5.2:	Linear trends of environmental indicators before and after the threshold
Figure 5.3:	Illustration of the Magnitude of the Estimated Causal Effect, Variables with
	Stronger Effect
Figure 5.4:	Illustration of the Magnitude of the Estimated Causal Effect, Variables with
	Weaker Effect
Figure 5.5:	Comparison of City Sizes in Germany and the Study Sample
Figure A.1:	Doughnut model for Germany, 2007. Source: Fanning et al. (2022)
Figure B.1:	Adaptation of the Doughnut Used in this Study (authors illustration, inspired by
	Raworth, 2017, p. 50)
Figure C.1:	Scatterplots for remaining variables with linear pre- and post-shock trendline,
	2000-2013
Figure C.2:	Scatterplots for (1) daycare, (2) inf_mortality, (3) u65_death, (4) road_death,
	(5) soc_assistance, (6) soc_housing, (7) unempl_rate, (8) activity_rate, (9)
	companies and (10) insolvency, with fourth order polynomial pre- and
	post-shock trendline, 2000-2013

List of Abbreviations

2SLS	Two-stage least-squares
BBSR	Federal Institute for Research on Building, Urban Affairs and Spatial Development of Germany
EU	European Union
GDP	Gross domestic product
ICTs	Information and communication technologies
IV	Instrumental variable
NO2	Nitrogen dioxide
OLS	Ordinary least squares
PM10	Particulate matter (<10 µm)
RD	Regression discontinuity
SA	Sustainability assessment
TBL	Triple bottom line

1 Introduction

Sustainability has become a dominating topic in many dimensions. In recent years, scientific research has gained importance, which can be seen from the surge in academic publications on sustainability-related topics (Purvis, Mao & Robinson, 2019). At the same time, businesses aim to find sustainable innovations (Mio, Panfilo & Blundo, 2020), while a large share of individuals strives for more sustainable consumption (Trudel, 2019). Governments act as a policy forum, they provide education for sustainability, they create platforms for concrete actions for more sustainability (Wang, Van Wart & Lebredo, 2014), and many of them adopt sustainability practices (Sodiq, Baloch, Khan, Sezer, Mahmoud, Jama & Abdelaal, 2019). While national governments are certainly important actors in dealing with sustainability issues, local governments, such as city governments, are at least equally important (Wang, Van Wart & Lebredo, 2014). Since 2009, urban environments are home to more than half of the global population and this share is expected to reach 70 percent by 2050 (Raworth, 2017). Furthermore, about 80 percent of global GDP is generated in cities (UN-Habitat, 2022). At the same time, negative externalities make cities a serious threat to environmental conservation (Mori & Christodoulou, 2012). All of this turns cities into important actors in taking environmental responsibilities seriously, supporting their citizens, and ensuring the reliable functioning of the economy that brings prosperity to the society. To achieve global sustainable development, sustainable urban environments (or cities - hereafter, the terms are used interchangeably) are substantial and to achieve sustainable cities, we must study and understand them better.

1.1 Research Problem

Large numbers of studies concerning various aspects of sustainability at the city level have been and are still being conducted. The multitude of different concepts and methods that are being applied makes it a highly heterogeneous field (Fu & Zhang, 2017; Kaur & Garg, 2019; Shmelev & Shmeleva, 2019). Despite the numerous and diverging perspectives on city sustainability, scholars often agree on three dimensions that should be considered. Those dimensions are environmental, social, and economic sustainability (Ahvenniemi, Huovila, Pinto-Seppä & Airaksinen, 2017; Cohen, 2017; Kawakubo, Murakami, Ikaga & Asami, 2018; Li & Yi, 2020; Mori & Yamashita, 2015; Yigitcanlar, Kamruzzaman, Foth, Sabatini-Marques, da Costa & Ioppolo, 2019). This three-pillar design is also known as the triple bottom line (TBL). Its most important message is that sustainability can only be achieved when the three dimensions are improved simultaneously and not only one by itself (Wang & Lin, 2007). One prominent illustration of this are the United Nations Sustainable Development goals, which unite the three dimensions and advocate for joint development in all three of them. In practice, the environmental, social, and economic dimensions of sustainability are mostly considered separately (Budsaratragoon & Jitmaneeroj, 2019; Svensson, Ferro, Hogevold, Padin, Carlos Sosa Varela & Sarstedt, 2018). Despite the large consensus on the relevance of the three pillars, there is little attention paid to their interrelations (Svensson et al., 2018). A causality implies that a change in one of the three pillars does not only lead to an equal change in overall sustainability but also affects the other pillars and therefore may lead to a much smaller or larger effect in overall sustainability. Researchers have found evidence of causalities including all three pillars of sustainability. However, not all findings are consistent (cf. Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Examples of Causal Relationships Found in Previous Studies.

Understanding these causalities is relevant for understanding the effects that a change in practices has. In other words, the understanding of causalities between the pillars of sustainability allows for designing more effective strategies to attain sustainability targets (Mirshojaeian Hosseini & Kaneko, 2012). For this reason, causalities between the pillars of sustainability need to be understood more nuanced (Hammer & Pivo, 2017). Against this backdrop, this study takes thus a closer look at the impacts of changes in social and economic sustainability on environmental sustainability in urban environments. These causal relationships are of particular interest as previous studies are not unequivocal on the causality of social on environmental sustainability. Furthermore, these causal relationships reflect the impact of variables where usually higher values indicate more sustainability (socio-economic variables) on variables where lower values mean more sustainability (environmental variables). The associated research question is:

What is the causal effect of socio-economic sustainability on environmental sustainability in cities?

1.2 Aim and Scope

By answering the research question, this study aims to contribute to achieving a better understanding of the causal relationship that exists between the pillars of sustainability in urban environments. From the evidence of previous studies and by intuition, it is expected that this causality is statistically significant. Through the results of the formal analysis of the topic, local actors can improve the predictions they make on the consequences of their decision. The insights can be used to design policies and projects that optimally affect the dimensions of sustainability they are targeting and reduce inefficiencies. Furthermore, the causalities can be incorporated into existing indices, allowing them to report more accurate scores.

The study uses a sample of 60 German cities. The panel of data stretches over the years 2000 to 2013 and includes 33 variables. 21 social, 4 economic, and 4 environmental indicators create the set of explanatory and explained variables. Their data has been collected from the Eurostat Cities Database (2022) and the Regionaldatenbank Deutschland (2022). To quantify the causal effect of socio-economic indicators on environmental indicators, a shock-based instrumental variables (IV) approach is applied. The shock-based IV method has been chosen because OLS estimates introduce an endogeneity problem due to simultaneity bias. After verifying the fulfilment of the conditions that must be fulfilled to apply a shock-based IV approach, the analysis has been conducted on 6 social, 4 economic, and 4 environmental indicators. The global financial crisis that started in 2007 (hereafter 'the financial crisis') serves as the shock since it directly and heavily affected the economic and social dimensions of sustainability but only indirectly had an impact on environmental indicators.

1.3 Outline of the Thesis

This study is divided into six chapters. After this introduction, Chapter 2 gives an overview of the existing literature in the field of city sustainability and the theoretical framework. The literature review focuses on the definition of urban sustainability, the different approaches that can be taken to the concept and a series of methods that are used for city sustainability assessment (SA). Chapter 3 provides information on the choice of indicators as well as the sources which provided the data for these indicators. It further justifies the chosen selection of cities and study period and offers a transparent evaluation of the reliability and representativeness of the data. Chapter 4 introduces the methods. This includes an elaboration on the problem of simultaneity and a background on the shock-based IV approach. Thereafter, Chapter 5 presents and critically discusses the results of the quantitative analysis of the estimated causal effect. Furthermore, the limitations that this study faces are discussed. Finally, the conclusion summarizes the most important insights gained from this study and proposes topics for future studies.

2 Previous Research and Theoretical Framework

The global population is becoming increasingly concentrated in cities (Hobbie & Grimm, 2020). While in 2009, half of the global population lived in urban environments, this number is expected to increase to 70 percent by 2050 (Raworth, 2017). In addition, cities have a crucial economic role. Approximately 80 percent of global GDP is generated in cities (UN-Habitat, 2022). This makes cities an increasingly important actor in fighting climate change (Ahvenniemi et al., 2017) and studying sustainable cities has become a relevant subfield of the sustainability literature. While urbanisation offers numerous positive agglomeration effects, such as increasing returns to scale on investment infrastructure or accumulation of knowledge and skill (Mori & Yamashita, 2015), current trends of urban development also lead to several problems. Within cities, waste, pollutants, and high consumption of nonrenewable resources damage the environment, education and elderly care create social challenges, and poverty and unemployment restrain the economy (Kaur & Garg, 2019; Li & Yi, 2020). Beyond their borders, cities cause negative externalities that pose a serious threat to environmental conservation (Mori & Christodoulou, 2012). Furthermore, the risks of climate hazards increase in cities. The reason for this is that certain characteristics of cities can interact with the hazards in a way that aggravates them in urban environments (Hobbie & Grimm, 2020). Studying sustainable ways for cities to develop allows for elaborating practical strategies that can be applied by policymakers and other local actors.

This chapter gives an overview of the previous research in the field of city sustainability and the theoretical background of this study. First, the definition of urban sustainability that is used hereafter is derived from previous studies. Second, different concepts that are discussed in city sustainability literature are explained and compared. Third, a closer look is paid at common assessment methods of city sustainability and the Doughnut model is introduced. Furthermore, a list of deficiencies in indicator assessment is provided.

2.1 Defining Urban Sustainability

So far, literature has not found a consensus on the definition of sustainable development (Holden, Linnerud & Banister, 2014). The most agreed-upon definition stems from 'Our Common Future', also known as the Brundtland Report, and states that "[s]ustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs." (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987, p.41) As this definition leaves much room for interpretation, literature also does not agree upon one definition of sustainable cities. An early and similarly

broad suggestion by Castells (2000, p.118) defines a city as sustainable "if its conditions of production do not destroy over time the conditions of its reproduction". More recently, definitions of urban sustainability are based on the coordinated development of environmental, economic, and social dimensions (Mori & Yamashita, 2015; Shmelev & Shmeleva, 2019). For example, according to Shmelev and Shmeleva (2018, p.904), "[u]rban sustainability is defined as the multidimensional capacity of a city to simultaneously operate successfully in economic, social, and environmental domains".

Definitions of city sustainability, or sustainability in general, also depend on the perspective that is chosen. One crucial distinction is whether a good performance in the social or economic dimensions can balance out worse performance in the environmental dimension. An illustration of the two fundamental views is shown in Figure 2.1. Those arguing that substitution is possible are advocates of 'weak sustainability' (Wilson & Wu, 2017). This approach has already been put forward by Solow (1986), who discussed the question of how much of the world's resources can be used and how much need to be left for future generations. In this context, he supported the view that human capital can substitute for environmental capital. This perspective is widely accepted and adopted by different actors (Folke et al., 2011). The graphic representation of weak sustainability (cf. Figure 2.1, left) shows a triangle that encompasses the three dimensions of sustainability. The closer an actor moves to one of the corners of the triangle, the more the dimension on the opposite side of this corner is substituted for. For example, close to the top corner, hardly any aspects of environmental sustainability are present, but as it is still within the triangle of sustainability, it is considered sustainable. This view is opposed by the view of 'strong sustainability', which "regards natural capital as providing some functions that are not substitutable by man-made capital" (Cabeza Gutés, 1996, p.147). In other words, strong sustainability sees environmental sustainability as a fundamental necessity for social or economic sustainability and the relationship between these pillars is complementary (Wu, 2013). Graphically, the strong sustainability approach puts environmental sustainability at the foundation. Social and economic sustainability can only grow when this foundation is present (cf. Figure 2.1, right). Certain advocates of the strong sustainability perspective, such as Folke et al. (2011), criticise the weak sustainability approach as a mental disconnection between socio-economic progress and environmental well-being. For them, it is crucial to avoid this mental disconnection



Figure 2.1: Illustration of Weak (Left) and Strong (Right) Sustainability (author's illustration, based on Wu, 2013, p.1002).

because they argue that there are strong dynamics between the different dimensions of sustainability. If environmental well-being remains disconnected from social and economic development, the life-supporting ecosystems of the planet are endangered. This study approaches city sustainability from the perspective of strong sustainability. It considers the environmental dimension of sustainability as fundamentally necessary for overall sustainability and advocates for simultaneous development of the three dimensions of sustainability. Compensations of worse performance in one of the dimensions with better performance in another are not considered sustainable. In this light, the used definition of a sustainable city has been taken from Mori and Yamashita (2015) who state that:

[a] sustainable city is defined as the city that maximises socio-economic benefits measured by economic and social indicators under relevant constraints measured by environmental sustainability indicators and socio-economic indicators of distributional equity. (Mori & Yamashita, 2015, p.12)

The strength of this definition is its reference to environmental constraints that must not be transgressed and socio-economic necessities that need to be maximized. All three dimensions have their needs that must be fulfilled, which corresponds to the approach of strong sustainability.

2.2 Sustainability Concepts in Cities

City sustainability has been researched since the early 1990s. Over time, a large number of different concepts on the topic have appeared. Being aware of the various existing concepts, how they relate to each other and which one is applied in given contexts allows one to better understand assumptions and principles that guide reasonings. Through a bibliometric study, Fu and Zhang (2017) have analysed the importance of different concepts. According to the authors, the most relevant in literature are the 'sustainable city' and the 'smart city'. Additional concepts they have found to be covered by a considerable share of literature are the 'eco-city', the 'low-carbon city', and the 'green city'. They have further found that the level of attention that each of these concepts attracted also differed depending on region and time. The term 'sustainable city' is the oldest and most persistent. On a geographical level, its focus lies in America. Discussions of 'smart cities' on the other hand appeared at the beginning of the 21st century and are most prominent in Europe. The 'eco-city' and 'low-carbon city' are dominant concepts in Asia, especially in China, and receive relatively little attention in other regions.

The previously mentioned concepts do not present an exhaustive list of all concepts that exist. Further concepts range from 'resilient cities' to 'knowledge cities' to '15-minute cities', and many more. This review of existing concepts does not go into the details of all these concepts. However, being aware of the large number of different concepts that are proposed in literature illustrates the great heterogeneity that dominates the discussion about sustainable cities. The following sub-sections give an overview of the most discussed concepts in city sustainability. Those are the concept of sustainable cities, which is closely related to the triple bottom line and which builds the foundation of this study, and the smart city concept, which attracts the most attention in literature today.

2.2.1 Sustainable Cities and the Triple Bottom Line

The concept of 'sustainable cities' is the most traditional one in the field of urban sustainability (Fu & Zhang, 2017). In the field of urban sustainability in general, many authors underline the need for a holistic approach to sustainability (Cohen, 2017; Kaur & Garg, 2019; Phillis, Kouikoglou & Verdugo, 2017; Yigitcanlar et al., 2019). Among the researchers following the concept of 'sustainable cities', an often reappearing and widely accepted picture is the one of an ecological-social-economic triangle, which is known as the triple bottom line (TBL) (Fu & Zhang, 2017; Wilson & Wu, 2017). The TBL is consistent with the perspective of strong sustainability as it considers the three dimensions as complementary and asks for a proportionate emphasis on all three. However, it also differs from strong sustainability in that it does not put environmental sustainability at the foundation, but considers all three dimensions as fundamentally necessary. Sustainability is only reached when each of the three dimensions is sustainable (cf. Figure 2.2). Such an approach is necessary to coordinate the development of these dimensions, which in turn allows cities to develop sustainably (Li & Yi, 2020).



Figure 2.2: Illustration of the Triple Bottom Line (author's illustration, based on Wu, 2013, p.1002).

While there is a large consensus that sustainability is composed of the three pillars of environment, society, and economy (Wilson & Wu, 2017), various scholars have proposed to include further pillars into the TBL. Examples are a culture pillar (Almeida, Ramos & Silva, 2018), a political-institutional pillar (Kaur & Garg, 2019), or a governance pillar

(Budsaratragoon & Jitmaneeroj, 2019). The aim behind the addition of those dimensions is to capture an even more encompassing picture of urban sustainability. However, currently, the dominant approach is limited to the three pillars of environment, society, and economy literature (see for example: Ahvenniemi et al., 2017; Cohen, 2017; Kawakubo et al., 2018; Li & Yi, 2020; Mori & Yamashita, 2015; Yigitcanlar et al., 2019).

The three pillars are also visible in the principles of sustainable cities. Sodiq et al. (2019) have reviewed 192 articles and have found nine principles that act as criteria for a city to be considered sustainable. (1) Sustainable cities provide sustainable education by addressing sustainability topics in curricula and by offering higher education degrees in sustainable development (Sodiq et al., 2019). This is an effective tool as student communities are the most active agents in sustainably transforming European cities (Russo & Tatjer, 2007) and have been found to positively influence political and civil participation for sustainability in a study on US cities (Portney & Berry, 2010). (2) Sustainable cities implement renewable energies. Local governments can ensure sustainable grid-connected systems through policies and encourage a stronger off-grid system by offering financial incentives (Abdmouleh, Alammari & Gastli, 2015; Sodiq et al., 2019). (3) In sustainable cities, the energy sector is efficient. Higher energy efficiency brings numerous benefits beyond sustainability, such as higher energy security, lower energy prices, and further macroeconomic development (Sodiq et al., 2019). (4) Sustainable cities ensure the sustainability of buildings. New constructions can follow the principle of circular economy and avoid materials with relatively high environmental footprints. (5) Sustainable transportation systems take a broad approach to sustainability. Choosing more sustainable means of transport and reducing the environmental footprint of cars and buses might be the more obvious transitions that are necessary for sustainable cities. However, not only the means of mobility are to be considered, but also city logistics, intelligent system management and liveability (Goldman & Gorham, 2006). (6) Sustainable cities address food waste and encourage behavioural changes (Sodig et al., 2019). Especially households are responsible for a considerable part of food waste (Quested, Parry, Easteal & Swannell, 2011). However, changing behaviour and habits is a difficult challenge for cities. What cities at least need to ensure is the proper disposal of food wastes through the presence of food waste disposers that divert food wastes from landfills (Sodiq et al., 2019). (7) The world – and cities in particular – are confronted with substantial population growth (UN-Habitat, 2021a). Sustainable cities engage in improved efficiencies in areas such as energy or agriculture to deal with growing populations. Furthermore, they support people, especially in developing countries, to reduce unwanted births (Ezeh, Bongaarts & Mberu, 2012). (8) In sustainable cities, ecological units that are required to be preserved for future generations are protected (Sodiq et al., 2019). (9) Sustainable cities limit their environmental footprint in water use, which is greatly exceeded in some cities (Koop & van Leeuwen, 2017). Improved wastewater management can be an effective tool for reducing water use and increasing water security (Sodiq et al., 2019). These nine principles are not necessarily exhaustive but offer an overview of the core values of sustainable cities. Furthermore, these principles are consistent with the TBL. While at first sight, they mostly represent environmental and social sustainability, the economic dimension is inherent to most of them through the creation of more sustainable markets.

2.2.2 Smart Cities

The 'smart city' has become the most researched concept in the field of city sustainability, especially in Europe (Fu & Zhang, 2017). The notion of 'smart city' first appeared in the 1990s (Gibson, Kozmetsky & Smilor, 1992; Yin, Xiong, Chen, Want, Cooper & David, 2015) and has become its own area of scientific enquiry in 2009 (Mora, Bolici & Deakin, 2017). In recent years, publications on smart cities have increased substantially (Mora, Bolici & Deakin, 2017). However, as for city sustainability in general, no consensus has been established about the definition of smart cities so far. Many studies put it in close relationship with the growing information and communication technologies (ICTs) and new technological innovations (Ahvenniemi et al., 2017; Bibri & Krogstie, 2017; Thornbush & Golubchikov, 2021; Yigitcanlar et al., 2019). Through ICTs, smart urban environments with increased efficiencies and liveability are created (Thornbush & Golubchikov, 2021). The discourse on 'smart cities' is closely related to the one on city sustainability. According to Yititcanlar et al. (2019) cities cannot be smart without being sustainable. However, not all researchers agree on this. Among the authors who disagree, there is the perception that cities have started to strive for being smart, not sustainable (Ahvenniemi et al., 2017). In comparison to other concepts concerning city sustainability, 'smart cities' have a stronger focus on socio-economic sustainability and a weaker focus on environmental sustainability (Ahvenniemi et al., 2017; Fu & Zhang, 2017). This is for example visible in smart city assessment, where environmental indicators are often lacking (Ahvenniemi et al., 2017). The disagreement on whether smart cities are automatically sustainable can at least partially be ascribed to the discrepancy between weak and strong sustainability. The critique of prioritizing smartness over sustainability indicates a critique of prioritizing economic growth rather than sustainable development (Haarstad, 2017). In other words, Yititcanlar et al.'s (2019) consideration that cities cannot be smart without being sustainable is more oriented towards weak sustainability. where increased socio-economic smartness can substitute for lower environmental sustainability. A further critique on the smart city concept is that it depends on digital information technologies to improve social and economic performance (Fu & Zhang, 2017). There is a considerable number of researchers criticising this heavy technocentric approach, which neglects solutions that are not technology-based (Yigitcanlar et al., 2019).

2.3 Sustainability Assessment in Cities

Sustainability assessment (SA) is an important part of many sub-fields of sustainability, city sustainability is one of them. In practice, city SA often follows the indicator approach. In other words, the assessment consists of a selection of indicators, through which a final score is calculated that is then used to rank and compare cities (Cohen, 2017). This is a suitable approach because it enables a global consideration of the topic (Phillis, Kouikoglou & Verdugo, 2017). On one hand, it allows to implement the previously discussed concepts and supports policymakers in their decision making process and policy development (Sala, Ciuffo & Nijkamp, 2015). Furthermore, it is a useful tool for comparisons between cities on a national, regional, and global scale.

There is a large variety of city sustainability indices. Some of the internationally established ones are the City Prosperity Index (UN-Habitat, 2021b), the ISO 37120 standard for sustainable cities (World Council on City Data, 2022), and the Safe Cities Index. All of them are using different combinations of indicators, with varying weights assigned to each of them. In addition, literature provides numerous further possible combinations of indicators (Cohen, 2017). In other words, this means that there's a great diversity of opinions on city sustainability indices. The danger of this is that conclusions reached by studies applying indicators heavily depend on the choice of indicators and their weighing, which might be a subjective choice by the researchers (Gasparatos & Scolobig, 2012).

2.3.1 Requirements for Sustainability Assessment Indices

According to Mori and Christodoulou (2015), there are three requirements that indices in the context of city sustainability need to respect. (I) City SA indices need to follow the strong sustainability approach. As discussed in Section 2.1, strong sustainability signifies that no substitution between the dimensions of sustainability is possible. Cities must be sustainable in every single one to be sustainable. (II) Indices of city SA need to distinguish between absolute and relative assessment. This can be translated into a differentiation between environmental and socio-economic indicators. Environmental indicators are based on the planetary boundaries, which are absolute boundaries with a specified limit assigned to each one (Rockström et al., 2009). The crucial information is whether or not these boundaries are transgressed and therefore require absolute assessment. Social and economic indicators on the other hand can usually be fulfilled to various degrees in different cities. Their performance can be measured and compared through relative assessment. (III) The leakage effect needs to be considered in city SA indices. Thereby, indices take into account that cities depend on areas outside of their boundaries and therefore are not sustainable independently.

Although crucial, these three requirements are often not fulfilled. Concerning the first requirement, Ahvenniemi et al. (2017) have found that urban SA is mainly based upon environmental indicators. Other indicators covering for example social or economic aspects are often only marginally included. Concerning the second requirement, common approaches to city SA assign scores to selected indicators. With the use of different weights according to the relevance of the indicators, a final score is calculated (see for example: Almeida, Ramos & Silva, 2018; Kaur & Garg, 2019; Li & Yi, 2020). This approach does not contain a differentiation between relative and absolute assessment. Finally, concerning the third requirement, Mori and Yamashita (2015) argue that no existent index of city sustainability considers both direct and indirect leakage effects. The impact of cities beyond their border is not correctly accounted for.

2.3.2 The Doughnut Model

An interesting model to assess and illustrate sustainability is the Doughnut model (cf. Figure 2.2 for the construction of the Doughnut model and Figure A.1 in Appendix A for an example of an assessment using the Doughnut model), which has been elaborated by the British

economist Kate Raworth. In connection with the before-mentioned three criteria of SA indices, the Doughnut Model respects at least criteria one and two. First, the Doughnut model on one hand includes environmental indicators that have a certain boundary, also referred to as planetary boundary (Rockström et al., 2009), which must not be transgressed for operating sustainably. Those indicators are located in the outer part of the model. On the other hand, it includes socio-economic indicators which must fulfil a certain threshold to assure sustainability. Those indicators are located in the inner part of the model. If environmental boundaries are not transgressed and socio-economic thresholds are reached, we are in what Raworth calls the 'safe and just space for humanity' (Raworth, 2017). In the graphical representation, this is the doughnut-shaped area between environmental and socio-economic indicators. As it must be operated sustainably in all dimensions to reach this space, the Doughnut model follows the strong sustainability perspective. Second, the use of indicators is similar to Mori and Christodoulou's (2012) constraint and maximization indicators. Constraint indicators include environmental and equity aspects of sustainability and have a limit that must not be transgressed, similar to the environmental indicators in the Doughnut model. Maximization indicators include economic and social dimensions that need to reach a minimum level, similar to the socio-economic indicators in the Doughnut model. Thereby, the second of the above-mentioned criteria is respected.



Figure 2.3:The Doughnut Model, as Proposed by Raworth (author's illustration, based on Raworth, 2017, p.50).

Through its strong graphical component, the Doughnut model offers an easily graspable illustration of the included indicators and their performance in a given context. Thereby, it responds to the need for a more practice-oriented approach to sustainability (Cohen, 2017). In the context of city sustainability, the Doughnut model has been applied by a series of cities. Formally, the public administrations in cities such as Cali (Colombia), Amsterdam (Netherlands), Barcelona (Spain), and Nanaimo (Canada) have adopted the Doughnut model in their sustainability strategies (Bareras, 2021; City of Amsterdam, 2020; DEAL, 2022; Gold, 2021). Additionally, many more cities have working teams that apply the Doughnut model on an informal level (DEAL, 2022).

2.3.3 Deficiencies of Indicator Assessment

The contemporary state of the discipline still includes gaps and inconsistencies. A first important gap in contemporary assessment methods is that often they only look at the dimensions of the TBL individually (Budsaratragoon & Jitmaneeroj, 2019; Svensson et al., 2018). By giving scores to each of the dimensions and aggregating them to a final score, it is assumed that the dimensions are independent. There is no measure of causal relationships between the pillars of the TBL, yet it is to be expected that there are some (Budsaratragoon & Jitmaneeroj, 2019; Lee, Geum, Lee & Park, 2012). Although it adds a high level of complexity to the analysis (Mirshojaeian Hosseini & Kaneko, 2012), future studies should focus on filling this gap. Through an understanding of causalities between the sustainability pillars more effective and successful sustainability strategies can be designed (Mirshojaeian Hosseini & Kaneko, 2012). Second, the outcomes of SA strongly depend on the goal and concept that the assessment strategy follows. Researchers need to choose the indicators used, the weight they give them, how they are normalized and how they are aggregated (Phillis, Kouikoglou & Verdugo, 2017). Each of these steps adds a dimension of subjectivity to the practice. Lastly, a fundamental limitation that is shared in the whole field of city SA is the availability of data at the subnational level. National statistics offices and international agencies often focus on data on the national scale (Phillis, Kouikoglou & Verdugo, 2017). Similarly, organizations calculating the established indices mentioned at the beginning of this section often do not provide the data on which their rankings are based. As a consequence, city SA is often limited by partially or fully missing data.

3 Data

The insights that have been gained in previous studies were applied in the selection of indicators and the construction of the model used in this study. This chapter provides a deeper insight into the data that is used in this study. First, the selection and treatment of variables are presented. Second, the process of constructing the city sample and defining a study period is explained. Thereafter, a reflection on the reliability and representativeness of the data is offered. Finally, the limitations that have been induced by data unavailability are recognized.

The data used in this study has been collected from two sources. For all but two variables, the data was taken from the Eurostat Cities Database (2022), which belongs to the database of the European Union (EU) and contains around 60 indicators for more than 1000 European cities. Data for the remaining two variables (*soc_assistance* and *insolvency*) was collected from the Regionaldatenbank Deutschland (2022), which is part of the database of the Federal Statistical Office of Germany. Data were available for all of the 60 chosen cities.

3.1 Selection of Variables

The choice of variables was guided by the Doughnut model (cf. Section 2.3.2) and adapted according to this study's needs and limitations (see Figure B.1 in Appendix B for the illustration of this study's Doughnut model). The list of variables included in this study is presented in Table 3.1. This table further informs about which of the three pillars of the TBL the variable belongs to and whether they are maximazion or constraint variables. The explained variables are those representing environmental sustainability and are all constraint indicators. More precisely, they are *ozone_conc* (the concentration of ozone), *no2_conc* (the concentration of nitrogen dioxide, NO2), and *pm10_conc* (the concentration of particulate matter, PM10), as well as *water_use* (the total use of water). When compared to the Doughnut model, *ozone_conc*, *pm10_conc*, and *water_use* are equivalent to the model's dimensions of ozone layer depletion, air pollution, and freshwater withdrawals. *No2_conc* is not directly included in the model but can be assigned to the dimension of air pollution as well.

The explanatory variables represent socio-economic sustainability. To a large share, they are maximisation indicators. Of the 26 explanatory variables, only *inf_mortality* and *sewerage_con* are identical to those included in the Doughnut model. With the use of alternative indicators, six of the twelve dimensions of the inner part of the Doughnut model are represented in this study. These dimensions and the respective indicators are education (*daycare, hi_educ*), income & work (*unempl_rate, activity_rate*), social equity (*soc_assistance, soc_housing, homeless_acc*), housing (*living_area, house, apartment*), water (*sewerage_con*), and health (*inf_mortality, u65_death*).

Category	Variable	Label	Pillar	Туре	Norm.
General	city	City			
	year	Year			
	рор	Total population			
	postshock	Dummy, 0=before 1=after financial crisis			
Education	daycare	Number of children 0-4 in daycare or	Soc	М	Х
	hi_educ	Students in higher education in the total population [%]	Soc	М	Х
Mortality /	inf_mortality	Infant Mortality per year	Soc	С	Х
Health	u65_death	Total deaths under 65 per year	Soc	С	Х
Transport	road_death	Number of deaths in road accidents	Soc	С	Х
	car_journey	Journeys to work by car [%]	Soc	С	
	mcycle_journey	Journeys to work by motorcycle [%]	Soc	С	
	carmcycle_	Journeys to work by car or motorcycle [%]	Soc	С	
	journey pt_journey	Journeys to work by public transport [%]	Soc	М	
	bicycle_journey	Journeys to work by bicycle [%]	Soc	Μ	
	foot_journey	Journeys to work by foot [%]	Soc	Μ	
Social	soc_assistance	Number of recipients of social assistance	Soc	М	Х
support	soc_housing	Number of households in social housing	Soc	Μ	х
	homeless_acc	Number of people in accommodation for	Soc	Μ	х
		the homeless			
Housing	living_area	Average area of living accommodation	Soc	М	
		[m ² /person]	a		
	house	Number of houses	Soc	M	Х
	apartment	Number of apartments	Soc	M	Х
Culture	cinema	Number of cinema seats (total capacity)	Soc	Μ	Х
	theatre	Number of theatres	Soc	Μ	Х
	library	Number of public libraries (all distribution points)	Soc	М	Х
Sanitation	sewerage_con	Population connected to sewerage treatment system [%]	Soc	М	
Employment	unempl_rate	Unemployment rate	Eco	С	
	activity_rate	Activity rate	Eco	Μ	
Economy	companies	Number of companies in the city	Eco	Μ	Х
	insolvency	Number of insolvency proceedings filed	Eco	С	х
Planetary Boundaries	ozone_conc	Accumulated ozone concentration in excess of 70 µg/m ³	Env	С	
	no2_conc	Annual average concentration of NO2 [µg/m ³]	Env	С	
	pm10_conc	Annual average concentration of PM10 $[\mu g/m^3]$	Env	С	
	water use	Total use of water [m ³]	Env	С	Х

Table 3.1: Variables Used in the Analysis.

Notes: 'Pillar' informs on which of the three pillars of the TBL the variable belongs to (env = environmental, soc = social, eco = economic). 'Type' informs whether the variable is a maximisation (M) variable or a constraint (C) variable. 'Norm.' informs whether the variable has been normalized to report its value per 1000 persons.

In addition, the dimensions of culture (*cinema, theatre, library*), transport (*road_dearh, car_journey, mcycle_journey, carmcycle_journey, pt_journey, bicycle_journey, foot_journey*), and economy (*companies, insolvency*) were added in this study, as their relevance has been put forward in city sustainability literature.

A few changes were made to the selected data. First, 93 out of 840 observations of the total city population were missing and have been estimated. Although estimating results may introduce a bias, this is a common practice in the construction of composite indicators (OECD, 2008) and it was a necessary step for the following normalization of the variables. Second, a series of variables was normalized to report values per 1000 persons. Thereby, comparability among cities has been improved. Which variables were affected by this normalization can also be seen in Table 3.1. Third, observations of the variables from the Regionaldatenbank Deutschland were deleted for five cities. The reason for that is that the reported population size for these cities differs severely when comparing the Regionaldatenbank and the Cities Database.

3.2 Selection of Cities and Study Period

The initial approach of this study was to focus on European cities. The choice of this region was based on two main reasons. First, causal relationships differ heavily between countries and regions (Mirshojaeian Hosseini & Kaneko, 2012), especially between developed and developing countries (Kawakubo et al., 2018; Mirshojaeian Hosseini & Kaneko, 2012; Phillis, Kouikoglou & Verdugo, 2017). As a consequence, taking a global approach would likely have led to weak outcomes that are too general to be representative of different regions. Second, data availability and quality are relatively high in Europe, when compared to cities in other regions.

However, in the process of the study, it was further necessary to limit the city sample to only German cities. Large numbers of missing observations across all variables made it impossible to obtain a representative sample of all European cities. The relatively extensive data collection in Germany has been noticeable, for which reason 60 German cities have been selected for this study. The criteria that each city needed to fulfil to be selected into the sample were that it needed at least six variables with data reported and this data needed to contain two or more observations for the years between 2000 and 2006, as the earlier years tended to have fewer observations. The list of cities can be found in Table B.1 in Appendix B. Data availability also affected the studied period. The Eurostat Cities database, which supplies most of the data used, has sufficient amounts of data between 2000 and 2013. After 2013, there is an abrupt cut and too few cities reported observations for many of the indicators. As a consequence, the panel used in this study includes observations for each indicator for the years from 2000 to 2013.

3.3 Reliability and Representativeness of the Data

The sample of German cities includes 60 cities, of which there is at least one per German state. The cities' populations reach between 50'000 and 3'500'000 inhabitants. According to the Federal Institute for Research on Building, Urban Affairs and Spatial Development (BBSR), in Germany, cities are defined as settlements with more than 5'000 inhabitants, or settlements with a central function (BBSR, 2022). This indicates that the city sample may not be representative of smaller cities (5'000 to 49'999 inhabitants), as they are not included in the sample. A more detailed analysis of this follows in the discussion in Chapter 5.

The reliability and representativeness of the data are favoured by the fact that most of the data comes from one single database and is, therefore, more comparable than data from multiple sources. The comparability of the two data sources has been confirmed before using the second source.

3.4 Limitations through Data Unavailability

Data unavailability largely impacted the data collection process. Data at the city level is rarer than at the national level and includes significantly more missing observations. Even cities that collect data for given indicators often do so irregularly, which makes constructing a panel dataset for a quantitative analysis a challenging task. One reason for missing observations in the Eurostat Cities database is that EU members are not legally required to collect and provide data at the city level but do so voluntarily (Eurostat, 2022). For the present study, the two sources that have been chosen were those with the highest number of observations for indicators relevant to this study. However, it is important to note that still, certain indicators had to be dropped in the selection process, which possibly introduced a selection bias. As a consequence, the environmental and socio-economic parts of the Doughnut model have not been fully adopted in this study.

The data that is included in the panel used for this study is expected to be of good quality. This assumption is made based on the professional collection of the data either by Eurostat or by the Federal Statistical Office of Germany. Hence, the quality threats are not expected to be introduced by data included in the study but rather by the missing data.

4 Methods

This chapter discusses the methods that are applied in this study. First, the endogeneity problem of simultaneity bias and possible solutions are discussed. The second part introduces the method that has been chosen to deal with the simultaneity bias and estimate the causal effect of interest. This method is a shock-based instrumental variable (IV) method, where a shock that affected socio-economic, but not environmental, indicators is applied as an instrument. Conditions to the application of the method are discussed and a justification of the chosen shock, the financial crisis, is provided. Finally, the model equations are presented.

4.1 The Problem of Simultaneity

This study is based on the hypothesis that social and economic sustainability improve environmental sustainability. For this reason, analysed regressions aim to quantify the causal effect that socio-economic indicators have on environmental indicators. However, it is likely that causality not only goes from socio-economic to environmental indicators but also the other way around. For example, Mirshojaeian Hosseini and Kaneko (2012) have analysed causal relationships between environmental, social, economic, and institutional sustainability. In their study, they have found a positive causal effect of environmental on social sustainability in both OECD and non-OECD countries. Such a causal relationship introduces an endogeneity problem. More specifically, OLS estimates are biased due to simultaneity. As a consequence, the analysis needs to apply a method that can isolate the causality from socioeconomic sustainability to environmental sustainability from the one in the inverse direction.

Some of the possible methods are presented hereafter. First, each explanatory variable that is affected by the reverse causality can be replaced with an instrument that is not affected. The requirements that instruments need to fulfil are that (I) they must have a causal effect on the explained variable, (II) they are not related to unobserved variables, and (III) the causal effect of the instrument on the explained variable only goes through the instrumented variable (Angrist & Pischke, 2015). Finding suitable instruments that fulfil all requirements and for which data is available is challenging. Concerns about poor quality instruments have also been raised by Clemens, Radelet, Bhavani and Bazzi (2012) who instead replaced values with their lagged values to deal with simultaneity bias. The two conditions for effective estimations with lags are that "(I) the lagged values do not themselves belong in the respective estimating equation and (II) they are sufficiently correlated with the simultaneously determined explanatory variable"(Reed, 2015, p.898). A third method is to apply a regression discontinuity (RD) design. This method uses a shock that occurred within the observed period and that affected explanatory, but not explained variables. Thereby, the causal effect from the explanatory to explained variable can be isolated from the reverse causality.

4.2 Shock-based Instrumental Variable Approach

This study applies a combination of two of the above-mentioned methods, IV and RD. More specifically, a shock-based instrumental variable approach is applied to avoid a simultaneity bias on OLS estimates. The core of the method consists of using an exogenous shock that occurred during the study period as an instrument in a two-stage least-squares (2SLS) estimation. In a first step, the relationship between the shock and the explanatory variables is analysed. Thereafter, it needs to be established that the shock has no direct impact on the indicators of environmental sustainability. Finally, the 2SLS estimations can be performed to quantify the causal effect of socio-economic sustainability on environmental sustainability. The following paragraphs give a short overview of the two methods, IV and RD, and their conditions, as well as a justification of the choice of shock.

4.2.1 Instrumental Variables

The IV method consists of replacing the endogenous explanatory variable with an instrument that is not affected by endogeneity. To obtain unbiased IV estimates, four conditions need to be fulfilled. First, there needs to be a strong first stage, indicating that the effect of the instrument on the instrumented variable is strong. This can be tested through an OLS regression. A general rule of thumb defines an F-statistic that is larger than 10 as a strong enough effect (Angrist & Pischke, 2015). Whether this assumption is fulfilled in this study is tested in the first step of the empirical analysis in Chapter 5.

Second, the independence assumption must hold. This assumption states that the instrument is uncorrelated to all unobserved determinants of the explained variable. As there is no formal test to check whether the independence assumption holds, it needs to be analysed with insights from previous studies and intuition. In this study, it is expected that the only correlations between the financial crisis and the environmental indicators are captured by the socio-economic indicators. A wide variety of socio-economic indicators were chosen with the aim of capturing all correlations. However, a weakness is introduced by the need of running individual regressions for each explanatory variable. This need was created by the fact that each socio-economic variable was expected to be affected by simultaneity and therefore had to be instrumented for by the shock. As a consequence, there is the possibility that the independence assumption does not hold.

The third condition is the exclusion restriction, which states that the entire channel of causality from the instrument to the explained variable goes through the instrumented variable. As for the independence assumption, there is no formal test to ensure that the exclusion restriction is respected. For this study, a qualitative analysis of opinions in literature is also difficult, as research on the impact of the financial crisis on the environment is rather scarce. Several studies on different financial crises have found impacts such as decreasing CO_2 emissions, energy consumption, and air pollution, as well as lower water and soil quality (Pacca, Antonarakis, Schröder & Antoniades, 2020). However, it is logically coherent to assume that the environmental impacts have been caused through the channel of socio-

economic impacts. For example, decreasing CO_2 emissions have not been a direct effect of the financial crisis, but rather a consequence of reduced economic activity and changes in behaviour. These effects are captured in socio-economic indicators such as the unemployment rate or variables related to the amount of public spending that benefits and protects the environment. As a consequence, it is assumed that the exclusion restriction is respected.

Fourth, the monotonicity assumption states that there are no defiers in the sample. Defiers are individuals who act as if they were treated when they were not, and do not act as if they were treated when they were not at a behaved like being affected by the financial crisis when they were not affected and not behaved like such when they were affected. This scenario is unlikely because the financial crisis has been an exceptionally strong shock that has been felt in many dimensions. Cities behaving like they have not been affected by such a strong shock when actually they have is not likely.

4.2.2 Regression Discontinuity

Regression discontinuity, or RD, is closely related to IV, it can even be thought of as an extension of IV (Oldenburg, Moscoe & Bärnighausen, 2016). There are two subcategories, namely sharp and fuzzy RD. The former assigns treatment in an absolute manner (yes or no), while for the latter, the likelihood of treatment increases at the threshold. Cities were affected by the financial crisis in an absolute manner, when the financial crisis hit, all of them were affected with a probability equal to one. For this reason, this study applies a sharp RD design. Angrist and Pischke (2015) state that it is necessary to find an external shock, or treatment, that affects the explanatory variable(s) but not the explained variable(s). The treatment is included in the regression equation in the form of a dummy that is equal to one when treatment is obtained and zero otherwise. (Angrist & Pischke, 2015)

As previously discussed, the shock in this study is the financial crisis. The financial crisis has affected a wide range of social and economic indicators. Ötker-Robe and Podpiera (2013) have found that it caused higher unemployment, increased poverty and the erosion of savings, interrupted the provision of essential public goods and services, reduced school enrolment rates, deteriorated health conditions, and increased suicide rates. Even stronger were the impacts on economic indicators. Among them were a severe break in real GDP growth, contractions of bank credits or reductions in private investment (Makin, 2019). The threshold of the shock has been chosen between the years 2007 and 2008. The reasoning for this choice is that, although the first impacts of the crisis have been felt in late 2007 (Ötker-Robe & Podpiera, 2013), it is expected that the 2007 data still represents a large share of unaffected data. Furthermore, it may take some time for the shock to be shown in the data of the chosen indicators. Data for the year 2008 however is expected to be affected. This intuition is supported by Ötker-Robe and Podpiera (2013) whose graphs on different indicators show a significant kink starting in 2008. For this reason, data for the years 2008 and onwards make up part of the post-shock period in this study.

4.3 Regression Equations

As all chosen variables might be affected by reverse causality and the shock of the financial crisis has been used as the instrument for all of them, it is not possible to include all variables in a single model. For this reason, individual regressions are necessary for each combination of socio-economic and environmental indicators. Equation (1) represents the first stage and equation (2) the second stage of the shock-based IV model used in this study.

- (1) [social or economic indicator]_{*i*,*t*} = $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1$ postshock + $e_{i,t}$
- (2) [environmental indicator]_{*i*,*t*} = $\beta_0 + \beta_1$ [social or economic indicator]_{*i*,*t*} + $u_{i,t}$

The term [social or economic indicator]_{i,t} stands for any social or economic indicator for city i in year t and [environmental indicator]_{i,t} stands for any environmental indicator for city i in year t. α_0 and β_0 are the constants of the respective equations. α_1 is the coefficient of the postshock variable and estimates the strength of the shock on the social or economic indicator in question. β_1 is the coefficient of the social or economic indicators and estimates the causal effect that each indicator has on the environmental indicator. *Postshock* is the dummy that is equal to one after the shock of the financial crisis and zero otherwise, and e_{i,t} and u_{i,t} are the error terms of the respective equations.

5 Empirical Analysis

This chapter presents and discusses the results of the empirical analysis. In the first section, the descriptive statistics, as well as the results of the shock-based IV approach, are presented. Thereafter, the second section discusses the results and highlights their implications. Finally, the third section discusses the limitations that this study faces.

5.1 Results

The first results presented are the descriptive statistics. Due to limited space, only the explanatory variables that have later on qualified for the IV estimation (those with a large F-statistic) are discussed here. The statistical justification for the qualification for the IV estimation is given in the second sub-section, where the relationships between the explanatory variables and the shock are analysed. Numerical results are supported with graphical illustrations. For completeness, the graphical illustrations are also supplied for the relationship between the explained variables and the shock. Finally, the 2SLS estimates of the causal effect of the socio-economic indicators on the environmental indicators are presented.

5.1.1 Descriptive Statistics

Table 5.1 provides the descriptive statistics of the 34 variables included in this study. Of the variables that have qualified for the IV-analysis, the most observations are available for the two variables from the Regionaldatenbank Deutschland, *insolvency* and *soc_assistance*. For them, there are 756 observations over the 14 years available. Many of the remaining variables have approximately 650 observations. Significantly fewer observations are available for *soc_housing* with 423 observations. The likely consequence of more missing observations are weaker results. Whether this is the case in this study is discussed in Section 5.2. Concerning the standard deviations of the variables, there are two noticeable outliers. On one side, *activity_rate* reports a much smaller standard deviation in relation to its mean than all other variables. On the other side, *soc_assistance* has a relatively large standard deviation. The range between the variables' minima and maxima is strongly related to the standard deviations. This suggests that the observations are spread over the whole range and there are less outliers. The exception is *road_death*, where the range is exceptionally large.

The explained variables on average have more observations than the explanatory variables. However, the number for *water_use* is also small with 532 observations. The standard deviation with respect to the mean is the largest for *ozone_conc*. Relatively similar values in terms of their mean are reported for *water_use* and *no2_conc*, while *pm10_conc* has the

smallest standard deviation. *Water_use* has the largest range of the four environmental variables, which suggests a strong presence of outliers. For the remaining three variables the order of largest to smallest standard deviation corresponds to the order of largest to smallest range, which suggests less outliers.

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. dev.	Min	Max
city	60	-	-	-	-
year	840	2006.50	4.03	2000	2013
рор	840	366'463.60	490'164.80	50'365.70	3'460'725.00
postshock	840	0.43	0.50	0	1
High F-stat explanate	ory variab	oles:			
daycare	651	20.05	4.24	10.98	38.07
inf_mortality	607	0.03	0.02	0.00	0.10
u65_death	640	1.80	0.35	0.35	2.85
road_death	634	0.03	0.02	0.00	0.18
soc_assistance	756	17.90	21.84	0.00	120.18
soc_housing	423	35.47	20.58	0.23	93.96
unempl_rate	658	9.85	4.05	3.00	23.00
activity_rate	657	56.54	3.15	49.00	64.00
companies	641	38.38	11.92	17.09	73.88
insolvency	756	1.77	0.91	0.00	4.68
Low F-stat explanate	ory variab	les:			
hi_educ	618	83.16	63.26	0.00	306.00
car_journey	484	55.96	9.75	32.40	80.30
mcycle_journey	394	1.25	0.67	0.20	4.40
carmcycle_journey	454	56.91	9.89	33.60	81.00
pt_journey	454	21.56	8.38	4.30	45.70
bicycle_journey	474	10.53	6.78	0.30	32.90
foot_journey	474	10.34	3.19	5.00	23.40
homeless_acc	244	1.19	1.22	0.00	9.60
living_area	511	39.00	3.31	31.00	48.00
house	634	120.03	38.21	52.41	209.11
apartment	634	416.58	66.75	233.04	586.18
cinema	587	17.30	5.90	4.53	33.06
theatre	641	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.14
library	633	0.07	0.04	0.00	0.22
sewerage_con	563	99.04	1.39	90.90	100.00
Explained variables:					
ozone_conc	740	3'658.30	1'282.09	31.00	10'044.00
no2_conc	746	25.95	6.56	11.37	44.80
pm10_conc	704	22.97	3.93	12.70	36.50
water_use	532	62'037.15	19'734.53	31'689.81	246'616.20

Table 5.1: Descriptive Statistics.

5.1.2 The Relationship Between the Shock and the Social and Economic Indicators

Having examined the descriptive statistics, the analysis proceeds to investigate the relationship between the shock and the socio-economic indicators. The statistical part of this investigation consists of OLS regressions of the socio-economic indicators on the post-shock dummy. Thereby, it was determined whether the shock impacted the variables to a statistically significant degree. The determining factor is the reported F-statistic, which is required to be larger than ten. This step corresponds also to testing the first IV condition (cf. Section 4.2.1). In addition, the analysis has been done graphically through scatterplots with pre- and post-shock trendlines.

The statistical analysis has eliminated a little more than half of the previously selected socioeconomic indicators because their F-statistic was too low. The variables with an F-statistic larger than 10 are (1) *daycare*, (2) *inf_mortality*, (3) *u65_death*, (4) *road_death*, (5) *soc_assistance*, (6) *soc_housing*, (7) *unempl_rate*, (8) *activity_rate*, (9) *companies*, and (10) *insolvency*. Estimates of the coefficients of the relationship between the shock and these ten variables are reported in Table 5.2. Estimates of the remaining 15 variables with a low Fstatistic are reported in Table 5.3. In a preparatory step, White tests were performed on all variables to test for heteroskedasticity. For those variables where the White tests suggested that they were affected by heteroskedasticity, robust standard errors are reported, while for the remaining variables, common standard errors are reported. The heteroskedastic variables are *daycare*, *inf_mortality*, *soc_assistance*, *soc_housing*, *unempl_rate*, *companies*, *living_area*, and *theatre*.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
postshock	2.237***	-0.005***	-0.128***	-0.008***	-23.770***
	$(0.318)^1$	$(0.001)^1$	$(0.028)^1$	(0.001)	$(1.174)^1$
F-stat	49.55	12.53	20.92	36.04	294.35
_cons	18.850***	0.037***	1.872***	0.031***	28.080***
	(0.214)	(0.001)	(0.023)	(0.001)	(1.169)
Ν	651	607	640	634	756
	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
postshock	-12.200***	-3.535***	1.093***	5.134***	0.629***
	$(1.940)^1$	$(0.298)^1$	(0.243)	$(0.913)^1$	(0.063)
F-stat	39.57	140.92	20.22	31.64	65.59
_cons	41.880***	11.780***	55.940***	35.580***	1.502***
	(1.562)	(0.258)	(0.180)	(0.630)	(0.041)
Ν	423	658	657	641	756

Table 5.2: OLS Regressions of Social and Economic Indicators on the Post-shock Dummy, Large F-Statistic.

Notes: standard errors in parentheses (¹ these are robust standard errors), * p<0.10, **p<0.05, *** p<0.01, variables reported are (1) *daycare*, (2) *inf_mortality*, (3) *u65_death*, (4) *road_death*, (5) *soc_assistance*, (6) *soc_housing*, (7) *unempl_rate*, (8) *activity_rate*, (9) *companies*, and (10) *insolvency*.

The estimates of the impact of the shock are to a large part statistically significant. For the variables in Table 5.2, all estimates are significant at the 99% level, while for those in Table 5.3, about half of the estimates are significant at the 99% or 95% level. The remaining variables with neither a large F-statistic nor a statistically significant estimate of the shock are *mcycle_journey*, *pt_journey*, *foot_journey*, *homeless_acc*, *house*, *apartment*, and *library*.

In terms of their mean, the estimate that suggests the strongest impact of the shock on (5) *soc_assistance*. Further strong impacts are suggested for (6) *soc_housing*, (7) *unempl_rate*, and (10) *insolvency*. The weakest impacts are suggested for (3) *u65_death*, and (8) *activity_rate*.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
postshock	11.010**	-2.621***	0.060	-2.383**	1.058
	(5.129)	(0.910)	(0.073)	(0.943)	(0.803)
F-stat	4.61	8.29	0.68	6.39	1.74
_cons	76.850***	56.930***	1.233***	57.860***	21.150***
	(3.882)	(0.555)	(0.040)	(0.594)	(0.506)
Ν	618	484	394	454	454
	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
postshock	1.521**	0.044	-0.163	0.691**	4.828
	(0.639)	(0.303)	(0.157)	$(0.317)^1$	(3.060)
F-stat	5.67	0.02	1.08	4.76	2.49
_cons	9.950***	10.320***	1.285***	38.760***	117.300***
	(0.394)	(0.186)	(0.119)	(0.173)	(2.306)
Ν	474	474	244	511	634
	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)
postshock	4.160	-1.244**	-0.002***	-0.000	0.249**
	(5.353)	(0.496)	$(0.001)^1$	(0.003)	(0.120)
F-stat	0.60	6.30	7.17	0.01	4.31
_cons	414.200***	18.050***	0.014***	0.065***	98.890***
	(4.034)	(0.385)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.094)
N	634	587	641	633	563

Table 5.3: OLS Regressions of Social and Economic Indicators on the Post-shock Dummy, Small F-Statistic.

Notes: standard errors in parentheses (¹ these are robust standard errors), *p<0.10, **p<0.05, *** p<0.01, (1) *hi_educ*, (2) car_journey, (3) *mcycle_journey*, (4) *carmcycle_journey*, (5) *pt_journey*, (6) *bicycle_journey*, (7) *foot_journey*, (8) *homeless_acc*, (9) *living_area*, (10) *house*, (11) *apartment*, (12) *cinema*, (13) *theatre*, (14) *library*, and (15) *sewerage_con*.

Figure 5.1 provides the graphical illustrations for the ten variables for which the F-statistic was sufficiently large. Each panel contains a scatterplot of one of the ten variables. The blue line is the trendline before the shock, including the years 2000 to 2007, and the orange line is the post-shock trendline, including the years 2008 to 2013. The graphs of the remaining fifteen variables with a low F-statistic are shown in Figure C.1 in Appendix C.



Figure 5.1: Scatterplots for (1) daycare, (2) inf_mortality, (3) u65_death, (4) road_death, (5) soc_assistance, (6) soc_housing, (7) unempl_rate, (8) activity_rate, (9) companies, and (10) insolvency, with linear pre- and post-shock trendline, 2000-2013.



Continuation of Figure 5.1: Scatterplots for (1) daycare, (2) inf_mortality, (3) u65_death, (4) road_death, (5) soc_assistance, (6) soc_housing, (7) unempl_rate, (8) activity_rate, (9) companies, and (10) insolvency, with linear pre- and post-shock trendline, 2000-2013.

Notes: (1), (3)-(6), (9) and (10) are reported in the number per 1000 persons of the total population, (2), (7) and (8) as percentages.

The ten panels in Figure 5.1 suggest three categories of variables in relation to the shock. First, there are strongly impacted variables, namely (2) *inf_mortality*, (9) *companies*, and (10) *insolvency*. For the latter two, the discontinuity is visible in both the trendlines and the individual observations. For (2) *inf_mortality*, the discontinuity is only visible when considering all observations. After the shock, the range decreased, especially at the upper end of the distribution. Second, only small discontinuities are visible for (3) *u65_death*, (4) *road_death*, (6) *soc_housing*, and (8) *activity_rate*. For all of those variables, there are no observations for the years 2002 and 2003. This has likely weakened the prediction of the preshock trend. However, even when considering all observations, there is no suggestion that the trendlines hide an effect of the financial crisis. According to the graphical analysis, those variables were hardly affected by the shock. Third, attention is drawn to the year 2005, where three variables suggest a discontinuity. Those variables are (1) *daycare*, (5) *soc_assistance*, and (7) *unempl_rate*. For all three variables, the trendlines suggest a regression discontinuity in 2008. However, when considering all observations and not only the trendlines, it is suggested that the shock already affected observations in 2005. As this is unambiguously

before the financial crisis hit, this suggests a misspecification of the shock. A more detailed analysis of this suggestion is provided in Section 5.2.

Many variables either show hardly any discontinuity at the threshold or suggest that the shock has been a different one than the financial crisis and occurred in the year 2005. A certain amount of accuracy might have been lost with the choice of linear instead of non-linear trendlines. For completeness, the discontinuities have also been illustrated with fourth-degree polynomial trendlines (cf. Figure C.2 in Appendix C). However, these trendlines overestimate the discontinuities and are judged to be less accurate than the linear trendlines.

Overall, the analysis of the first stage has led to contradictory results. On one hand, the regression outputs and the corresponding F-statistics led to the conclusion that the financial crisis has significantly impacted the ten variables that have been discussed above, on the other hand, the graphical analysis has put this outcome into question. While (5) *soc_assistance*, (6) *soc_housing*, (7) *unempl_rate*, and (10) *insolvency* were suggested to be the strongest affected in the statistical analysis, the graphical analysis only reached the same conclusion for (10) *insolvency*. For (5) *soc_assistance*, and (7) *unempl_rate*, the potential shock in 2005 appears to have influenced the regression outputs. Concerning the conclusion that (3) *u65_death*, and (8) *activity_rate* were the least affected by the shock, the statistical analyses are consistent.

5.1.3 The Relationship Between the Shock and the Environmental Indicators

Analogue to the scatterplots for the socio-economic variables, scatterplots have been drawn for the environmental variables (cf. Figure 5.2). The impact of the financial crisis that they show is relatively small. For (1) ozone_conc, the trend was slightly increasing between 2000 and 2007. A notable impact of the increasing trend has been the year 2003. An exceptionally long heatwave in the summer of 2003 has favoured the formation of ozone and as a consequence, has become an outlier year (Wilke, 2021). Omitting the year 2003, the trend appears stable. At the threshold, a downwards jump is visible, which is followed by a decreasing trendline. Furthermore, after the shock, the annual range is smaller with hardly any single outliers. (2) No2_conc has decreased relatively constant over the whole study period. Discontinuities at the threshold are negligibly small. In comparison to the other environmental variables, the observations spread over a larger range, and do so relatively evenly. Similarly, (3) *pm10_conc* has been decreasing over the whole period. The graph shows a noticeable downwards jump at the threshold and a slightly flatter post-shock trendline. In certain years, a few outliers can be identified. Overall, however, the distribution appears relatively even. Finally, (4) water_use shows a slightly increasing pre-shock and slightly decreasing postshock trendline with a small downwards jump at the threshold. However, these impacts are marginal and cannot be assigned to the effect of the financial crisis with certainty.



Figure 5.2: Linear trends of environmental indicators before and after the threshold. Notes: (1)-(3) are reported in μ g/m³ and (4) is reported in m³.

5.1.4 2SLS Estimation of the Causal Effect

The following section shows the second-stage estimates of the causal effect of the social and economic variables with a sufficiently large F-statistic on the four environmental variables. The estimates have been grouped into those with a relatively strong impact (*inf_mortality, u65_death, road_death, and insolvency*) and those with a relatively weak impact (*daycare, soc_assistance, soc_housing, unempl_rate, activity_rate, and companies*). The categorization into weak and strong has been consistent over all four environmental variables.

The estimates of the variables with a relatively large causality of socio-environmental indicators on environmental indicators can be found in Table 5.4. First, the yearly infant mortality is expected to be positively associated with all environmental variables. An increase in infant mortality by one per 1000 persons is estimated to increase the accumulated ozone concentration above 70 μ g/m³ by 68'395.1 μ g/m³. The annual average concentration of NO2 is expected to increase by 532.5 μ g/m³, and the annual average concentration of PM10 by 619.6 μ g/m³. Total water use per 1000 persons is expected to increase by 669'955.8 m³. The estimate for *ozone_conc* is statistically significant at the 95% level, while those for *no2_conc* and *pm10_conc* are significant at the 99% level and the one for *water_use* is not significant.

Second, estimates suggest that $u65_death$ positively impacts all of the environmental variables. Thereafter, an increase in total deaths of persons under 65 years by one per 1000 persons is associated with an increase in the accumulated ozone concentration above 70 µg/m³ of 2'046.6 µg/m³. The resulting increase in the annual average NO2 concentration is estimated to be 19.0 µg/m³ and the one of PM10 28.2 µg/m³. Water use is estimated to increase by 6'603.5 m³ per 1000 persons. As for the *inf_mortality*, the estimates are statistically significant at the 95% level for *ozone_conc*, the 99% level for *no2_conc* and *pm10_conc* and not significant for *water_use*.

Third, it is estimated that the number of deaths in road accidents has a positive impact on all environmental variables. More specifically, estimates suggest that an increase of 1 death in a road accident per 1000 persons increases the accumulated ozone concentration above 70 μ g/m³ by 36'965.4 μ g/m³. The annual average NO2 and PM10 concentrations are estimated to increase by 247.9 μ g/m³ and 337.1 μ g/m³ respectively. The total use of water is estimated to increase by 183'885.1 m³ per 1000 persons. The estimates for the first three variables are statistically significant at the 99% level, while the estimate of water_use is not significant.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	ozone_conc	no2_conc	pm10_conc	water_use
inf_mortality	68'395.1**	532.542***	619.610***	669'955.8
	(33'388.0)	(197.479)	(197.867)	(480'729.8)
_cons	1'198.2	7.352	0.738	39'376.0**
	(1'108.1)	(6.693)	(6.804)	(16'513.5)
Ν	538	534	539	480
u65_death	2'046.6**	19.022***	28.233***	6'603.5
	(857.824)	(5.989)	(7.215)	(19'672.0)
_cons	-214.110	-8.536	-28.364**	49'938.7
	(1'543.8)	(10.744)	(12.927)	(34'743.3)
Ν	569	566	568	513
road_death	36'965.4***	247.924***	337.066***	183'885.1
	(10'016.0)	(78.821)	(62.882)	(202'642.0)
_cons	2'502.4***	18.737***	13.321***	57'247.4***
	(270.244)	(2.137)	(1.664)	(5'333.1)
Ν	563	561	580	531
insolvency	-970.515***	-4.316***	-8.162***	-2'081.9
	(197.767)	(0.868)	(1.199)	(4'340.5)
_cons	5'410.9***	33.609***	38.380***	65'711.8***
	(356.858)	(1.545)	(2.254)	(8'508.6)
Ν	657	674	629	484

Table 5.4: 2SLS Estimates of the Causal Effect of Social and Economic Variables on Environmental Variables, Variables with Stronger Effect.

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses, * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01

Fourth, *insolvency* is estimated to negatively impact all environmental variables. More specifically, estimates suggest that an increase in the insolvency proceedings filed per 1000 people decreases the accumulated ozone concentration above 70 μ g/m³ by 970.5 μ g/m³. The

annual average NO2 and PM10 concentrations are estimated to increase by 4.3 μ g/m³ and 8.2 μ g/m³ respectively. Total use of water is estimated to decrease by 2'081.9 m³ per 1000 persons. The estimates for the first three variables are statistically significant at the 99% level, while the estimate for water_use is not significant.

A pattern that emerges over all four variables is that the estimates for *ozone_conc* and *water_use* are relatively large, while the estimates for *no2_conc* and *pm10_conc* are relatively small. Furthermore, the estimates for *water_use* are never significant, whereas those for the remaining three variables are all significant at the 95% and 99% levels.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	ozone_conc	no2_conc	pm10_conc	water_use
daycare	-142.056***	-0.937***	-1.305***	-239.531
	(45.847)	(0.205)	(0.206)	(615.202)
_cons	6'347.5***	44.621***	48.713***	66'397.3***
	(924.784)	(4.180)	(4.163)	(12'076.6)
Ν	577	576	574	503
soc_assistance	24.745***	0.111***	0.189***	56.132
	(4.674)	(0.021)	(0.016)	(115.569)
_cons	3'246.4***	24.039***	20.167***	61'038.3***
	(98.707)	(0.460)	(0.316)	(1'563.0)
Ν	657	674	629	484
soc_housing	27.197**	0.191***	0.234***	255.534**
	(10.724)	(0.057)	(0.045)	(104.957)
_cons	2'559.9***	18.951***	14.160***	51'216.8***
	(382.392)	(2.029)	(1.611)	(4'001.8)
Ν	379	375	386	353
unempl_rate	92.077***	0.634***	0.800***	492.965
	(25.289)	(0.173)	(0.088)	(533.045)
_cons	2'586.1***	19.199***	14.241***	57'496.7***
	(252.365)	(1.734)	(0.887)	(4'967.1)
Ν	582	583	594	531
activity_rate	-296.485***	-2.080***	-2.908***	-1'289.7
	(109.417)	(0.657)	(0.742)	(1'373.3)
_cons	20'275.4***	143.491***	187.136***	134'908.1*
	(6'196.0)	(37.277)	(42.090)	(77'610.5)
Ν	581	582	593	531
companies	-61.578***	-0.409***	-0.570***	-324.488
	(20.791)	(0.127)	(0.124)	(343.812)
_cons	5'866.3***	41.289***	44.220***	74'924.03***
	(809.734)	(4.883)	(4.788)	(13'669.1)
Ν	565	568	577	526

Table 5.5: 2SLS Estimates of the Causal Effect of Social and EconomicVariables on Environmental Variables, Variables with Weaker Effect.

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses, * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01

Table 5.5 presents the estimates of the variables with a weaker estimated causal effect on the environmental variables. As for the previous four variables, estimates are significant at least at the 95% level for *ozone_conc*, *no2_conc*, and *pm10_conc*, but mostly insignificant for *water_use*. Not only the levels of significance resemble those reported in Table 5.4, but also the magnitudes of the estimate. The pattern of large estimates for *ozone_conc* and *water_use* and small estimates for *no2_conc* and *pm10_conc* persists for the estimates in Table 5.5. Overall, estimates for *companies*, *soc_housing*, and *soc_assistance* are relatively small, whereas those for the remaining three variables are slightly larger.

5.2 Discussion

Estimates of ten socio-economic indicators confirm the hypothesis that there is a significant impact of the social and economic dimensions of sustainability on environmental sustainability in German cities. This indicates that changes in either social or economic sustainability do not translate into equal changes in overall sustainability. Instead, they also impact environmental sustainability, which increases or decreases the impact on overall sustainability. This section first discusses the first-stage and thereafter the second-stage regressions.

5.2.1 First-stage Regressions

The first-stage regressions were performed to get an indication of the strengths of the shock on the explanatory variables and to ensure that the F-statistics are large enough to respect the first of the four IV conditions. However, A large share of the socio-economic variables did not fulfil the required condition to report unbiased estimates through the shock-based IV method. The comparison of the descriptive statistics (cf. Table 5.1) and the scatterplots (cf. Figures 5.1 and C.1) suggest that missing data had a major influence. For the indicators with a weak first-stage regression, more missing observations are reported. The scatterplots show that often whole years are without any observations. In addition, many of the scatterplots for variables with a low F-statistic suggest a misspecification or absence of the shock. Furthermore, the category of the indicators seems to play a role. Most of the indicators that did not qualify for the 2SLS regression are related to transportation, housing or culture. This suggests that those areas may have been too little affected by the financial crisis to legitimate it a shock that leads to a regression discontinuity.

Among the indicators with a strong first stage, the largest estimates with respect to the variables mean have been reported for *insolvency*, *unempl_rate*, and *soc_housing*. On the opposite side, the smallest estimates have been reported for *activity_rate* and *u65_death*. This is consistent with the intuition that the former three variables are heavily dependent on external conditions to perform better, while the latter two are more consistent indicators that fluctuate less in a short term view.

5.2.2 Second-stage Regression

Overall, the expectation for the second-stage regressions was that there is a positive causal relationship between two constraint indicators, while there is a negative relationship between a maximisation and a constraint indicator (cf. Table C.1 in Appendix C). The logical reasoning behind this is that, when a higher value in the socio-economic indicator improves socio-economic sustainability, this should improve environmental sustainability. All environmental indicators in this study are constraint indicators, where smaller values are more sustainable. Therefore, the expected relationship between a maximisation socio-economic indicator and an environmental indicator is negative and the one between a constraint socioeconomic indicator and environmental indicator is positive. Out of the ten regressions, seven correspond to these expectations. The three variables for which the estimates contradict the expectations are soc assistance, soc housing, and insolvency. The first two might be misspecified as maximisation indicators. They were qualified as maximisation indicators because it was considered that socially sustainable cities offer more social support to their people. Therefore, higher values in soc assistance and soc housing were considered an improvement in social sustainability. However, the alternative reasoning is that higher numbers in soc_assistance and soc_housing indicate that people are worse off. As a consequence, numbers should not exceed a certain threshold, which categorizes the variables as constraint variables. To determine whether a mis-categorization lies at the bottom of this, the changes in the cities would need to be analyzed in more detail, which exceeds the scope of this study. The third exception is *insolvency*, where more insolvency proceedings filed decrease economic sustainability, but increase environmental sustainability. A possible explanation for this relationship could be that insolvent businesses are more environmentally unsustainable. Having them go out of business would improve the conditions for the environment. However, as the Regionaldatenbank Deutschland does not supply any information on the kinds of businesses that file insolvency proceedings, it is not possible to confirm or deny this hypothesis.

The estimated magnitude of the causality varies strongly between the different socioeconomic indicators. Depending on the variable, a change of one unit can be a more or less important change. To compare all variables, the 2SLS estimates have been divided by the variables' means, which were reported in Table 3.1. Illustrations of the estimates' magnitudes are shown in Figure 5.3 for the variables with a stronger causal effect and in Figure 5.4 for those with a weaker causal effect. Thereafter, the strongest causal effects on environmental indicators come from *inf_mortality*, *road_death*, *u65_death*, and *insolvency*. At first sight, this may be surprising. Remembering the first-stage regressions, only insolvency was among the ones with a large F-statistic. Considering the scatterplots (cf. Figure 5.1), all four have not been the ones with the greatest change in trendlines after the shock. There are two possible explanations for this divergence. First, for many variables with a weaker estimated causal effect, there was the suspicion of a shock misspecification. This possible misspecification might have been picked up and eliminated by the 2SLS regression. Hence, variables with a correctly specified shock would show stronger causal effects. Second, changes in environmental indicators have not occurred as a consequence of changes in socio-economic indicators. In other words, there is no strong causal relationship between the variables heavily affected by the shock and the environmental variables. A good example of this possibility is

companies. The scatterplot did not suggest a shock misspecification but suggested the strongest impact of the shock on all of the variables. The relatively low estimates for *companies* indicate that this impact has not been translated into the environmental indicators.



Figure 5.3: Illustration of the Magnitude of the Estimated Causal Effect, Variables with Stronger Effect.

Notes: Certain values were too big to fit into this illustration. Corresponding estimates are indicated with '.....' at the top of the bars. Units correspond to variable units (cf. Table 3.1).



Figure 5.4: Illustration of the Magnitude of the Estimated Causal Effect, Variables with Weaker Effect.

Notes: The estimate of *unempl_rate* on *water_use* fit into this illustration. The corresponding estimates are indicated with '.....' at the top of the bars. Units correspond to variable units (cf. Table 3.1).

When discussing the descriptive statistics (cf. Section 5.1.1), the question was asked whether a smaller amount of observations leads to less significant estimates. The variables with the least observations are *soc_housing*, *inf_mortality*, and *water_use*. No differences in significance were observable for the first-stage regressions. In the second-stage regressions, estimates for *water_use* were strongly less significant. Likely, this is at least partially caused by the relatively large number of missing observations. For *soc_housing and inf_mortality*, the differences are smaller, but estimates of these two variables are also slightly less significant. As this difference is relatively small, it is uncertain whether it can be attributed to the fewer observations.

When comparing the causality between different pillars, one surprising aspect of this insight is that the majority of the economic indicators are not among the most affected indicators, although the shock was of economic nature. The first stage estimates, relative to the indicators' mean, suggest a slightly stronger effect of the shock on economic indicators. Thereafter, the 2SLS results suggest that the causality between social and environmental sustainability is stronger than the one between economic and environmental sustainability. These findings are similar to those made in previous studies. The causal effect that Svensson et al. (2018) have found from social on environmental sustainability can be confirmed. In addition, the fact that Svensson et al. (2018), as well as Mirshojaeian Hosseini and Kaneko (2012), have not found a causal relationship between environmental and economic sustainability can be an indicator why the effect of this study was smaller than the one between social and environmental sustainability. However, contrary to the findings of the previously named authors, this study has found a statistically significant causal effect of economic on environmental sustainability.

Among the environmental indicators, it is noticeable that the impact is significantly weaker for water_use in nine out of ten cases. This observation is coherent with the impression obtained from Figure 5.2, where hardly any change between pre- and post-crisis trendlines was observable. Of the remaining three variabels, the impact tends to be the strongest for pm10_conc, followed by ozone_conc and then no2_conc. These observations as well correspond to the impressions obtained from the illustrations in Figure 5.2, where *pm10_conc* and ozone conc showed a larger jump and change in slope of the trendlines than no2 conc did. It is noticeable that this order is consistent with the order of the variables' standard deviations and their estimates' standard errors. Water use, the variable with the weakest estimates, is at the same time the variable with the highest standard deviation and the one with the largest standard errors. This indicates that the conclusion about a causal relationship is the weakest for water_use. For pm10_conc, on the opposite, they are the strongest, while for ozone conc and no2 conc, they are in between. Another noticeable pattern among the environmental variables is that for all ten socio-economic variables, estimates were considerably larger for ozone_conc and water_use than for no2_conc and pm10_conc. While it can be argued that those for *water_use* the estimates might not be as accurate, the strong difference persists between the remaining three variables, for which the estimates are expected to be more accurate. The reason for this difference is not known at this point. On the contrary, it is rather surprising because nitrogen oxides, one of which is NO₂, are among the precursor substances of ozone (Hendriks, Forsell, Kiesewetter, Schaap & Schöpp, 2016). As a consequence, it would be expected that they react similarly to a change in socio-economic variables. For a more in-depth understanding of the pronounced differences between the estimates reported, further scientific investigations are necessary.

5.3 Limitations

There are several limitations to the present study. Hereafter, the following limitations are discussed: the limitations of the model construction, the unavailability of data, the size and construction of the city sample, and a possible misspecification of the shock. This list of limitations is not necessarily exhaustive. However, those limitations are considered to be the ones that most severely threaten the validity of the estimated results.

5.3.1 Model Construction

The instrumentation of all explanatory variables with the shock of the financial crisis has led to the need for separate equations for each of the explanatory variables. The reason for this is

that one instrument cannot be used multiple times in the same 2SLS regression. This translates into a probable violation of the independence assumption (cf. Section 4.2.1) and the estimates are likely to remain biased. While it is expected that they are no longer affected by simultaneity, they are biased by omitted variables because the environmental variables are not fully explained by one single socio-economic variable but depend on several of them. This is also likely to be the reason why certain estimates reported extremely high or low coefficients. The chosen approach was deemed to be the most suitable for this study. However, further investigations into a more appropriate method can improve future studies in this area.

5.3.2 Data Availability

Another important limitation is the unavailability of data at the city level. This issue has already been discussed by numerous authors (see for example: Gibberd, 2017; Kawakubo et al., 2018; Phillis, Kouikoglou & Verdugo, 2017). A consequence of this limitation is that this study only considers German cities. Whether results are valid for other locations requires further studies. In addition, the choice of indicators has largely been influenced by what indicators are available, and not by what indicators best fit the research question analysed. For example, the environmental indicator that Rockström et al. (2009) use for the planetary boundary of climate change and that is highly prominent in sustainability discussions is CO₂ emissions. Efforts were made to find data on German cities' CO₂ emissions, yet, they were not successful. They have either not been made publicly available or not been collected at all. The same is true for many more indicators. This also had the consequence that the Doughnut model had not only been adapted in ways that make it more representative for the city case, but also according to what variables were available. Especially the environmental indicators are a one-sided representation of environmental sustainability. Three out of four variables are connected to air quality and the fourth variable only provided weak results. A more comprehensive application of the Doughnut would also have allowed to compare causal relationships between the most unsustainable and sustainable dimensions and see whether performance impacts their relationship. However, for this not only data was missing but also specific thresholds have not been defined yet for many variables.

It is a weakness of this study that numerous interesting and crucial dimensions of sustainability had to be omitted. To study causal relations between different dimensions of sustainability and improve them simultaneously, abundant and high-quality data that is easily accessible is key. Cities are urged to carefully collect data for diverse indicators and cooperate to make them easily accessible to the public.

5.3.3 Sample Selection

Closely related to the issue of unavailable data is the relatively small city sample used in this study. The sample used in this study is entirely coherent with the list of cities for which sufficient amounts of data in the variables studied are available. As previously discussed, 2800 settlements in Germany qualify as cities according to the BBSR. Krejcie and Morgan (1970) have specified a widely used formula for determining the necessary sample size to be

representative of a given population. According to this formula, a sample of 338 cities would be necessary for a population of 2800 cities. With this sample size, the margin of error is 5 percent. This study's sample of 60 individuals is not entirely unqualified to represent a population of 2800, however, the associated margin of error lies at approximately 12 percent.

Furthermore, it is not only the small sample that threatens the representativeness of the study, but also the individual cities that are part of the sample. As discussed in Section 3.4, small cities are disregarded in this sample. Furthermore, the remaining cities are not equally represented. The distribution of cities according to their sizes in the German population and the study sample is shown in Figure 5.3. Thereafter, the cities with 50'000 to 99'000 inhabitants are underrepresented, while cities with more than 100'000 inhabitants are overrepresented. It is expected that this is because larger cities have more means and incentives to measure and report a wide variety of data. As a consequence, this misrepresentation is hard to avoid and would exceed the scope of this study.



Figure 5.5: Comparison of City Sizes in Germany and the Study Sample.

Notes: The comparison of sample and population is slightly distorted. City sizes of the population are reported for the year 2020 (Data: Statistisches Bundesamt, 2020), and city sizes of the sample are reported for the year 2013 (Data: Eurostat, 2022).

5.3.4 Shock Misspecification

There is the possibility that the moment of the shock has not been optimally specified. This possibility should be investigated by future studies as a better fitting shock would lead to more accurate and holistically valid results. This study has briefly considered two alternative thresholds. First, it takes some time for a shock to affect other variables to a degree that is noticeable in the respective data. The financial crisis started in late 2007, however, it was not until 2008 that it turned into the most severe crisis since the Great Depression (Ötker-Robe &

Podpiera, 2013). This study has followed evidence by Ötker-Robe and Podpiera (2013), which shows that data on European countries changed significantly in the year 2008. However, if the impact on socio-economic indicators took longer in the studied sample of German cities, a threshold between 2008 and 2009 would be more appropriate. The first- and second-stage regressions of this later shock have been performed and the new estimates of the causal effect are reported in Table 5.6. The F-statistics in the first-stage regressions have changed and therefore, so did the selection of variables suitable for IV estimation. Inf_mortality has dropped out, while living_area has been added to the list of instrumented variables. However, the levels of significance of the estimates of *living_area* are relatively weak. The only other change in significance levels can be observed for *soc housing*, where now the estimates are statistically significant for all 4 environmental variables. For all persisting variables, positive impacts have stayed positive and negative have stayed negative. The strength of the shock however has become stronger for some and weaker for other variables. What is noticeable is that in a majority of cases, ozone conc and water use have been similarly affected and no2_conc and pm10_conc have been similarly affected. On average, there has been an increase in standard errors over all variables. In conclusion, the change of threshold has improved the level of significance and decreased standard errors in certain cases. Overall, however, it does not appear to be a better fitting threshold. All the same, the analysis of this alternative threshold remains useful as it confirms the positive and negative relationships found in the initial regressions.

	ozone_conc	no2_conc	pm10_conc	water_use
daycare	-143.661***	-0.742***	-0.854***	-296.022
	(39.693)	(0.171)	(0.133)	(510.355)
u65_death	3'051.4**	20.969***	24.784***	13'746.4
	(1'237.5)	(7.618)	(7.323)	(25'182.1)
road_death	46'332.8***	245.566***	269.894***	228'072.0
	(11'540.0)	(83.785)	(56.024)	(226'412.0)
soc_assistance	29.398***	0.119***	0.181***	71.331
	(5.580)	(0.025)	(0.019)	(139.297)
soc_housing	38.471***	0.174***	0.187***	310.824***
	(13.392)	(0.061)	(0.043)	(117.076)
unempl_rate	110.169***	0.606***	0.635***	584.112
	(26.726)	(0.177)	(0.083)	(564.831)
activity_rate	-339.009***	-1.918***	-2.201***	-1'354.7
	(114.137)	(0.627)	(0.577)	(1'290.6)
companies	-40.152***	-0.210***	-0.219***	-187.063
	(10.109)	(0.060)	(0.035)	(178.216)
insolvency	-1'080.0***	-4.360***	-7.350***	-2'301.9
	(223.580)	(0.948)	(1.222)	(4'557.1)
living_area1	-227.046**	-0.802	-1.134***	-1'071.9
	(101.073)	(0.662)	(0.419)	(1'298.9)

Table 5.6: 2SLS Coefficient Estimates Using 2008-2009 as the Threshold.

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses, * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01. ¹The F-statistic of this was not above 10 in the initial regression.

	ozone_conc	no2_conc	pm10_conc	water_use
daycare ¹	-999.157	-45.283	5.378	-4'641.5*
	(3'619.7)	(313.041)	(4.360)	(2'766.5)
inf_mortality	-46'508.9***	414.884***	287.799***	62'693.9
	(17'284.3)	(142.701)	(110.751)	(567'220.0)
u65_death	-949.311***	11.058***	10.040***	-19'535.5**
	(352.395)	(2.703)	(1.772)	(9'776.8)
road_death	-30'384.9	425.064**	345.382***	-254'379.0
	(23'894.0)	(201.825)	(122.209)	(351'715.0)
soc_assistance	10.880***	0.070***	0.103***	-41.647
	(2.814)	(0.013)	(0.008)	(57.537)
soc_housing	-9.267	0.235***	0.176***	-313.034**
	(9.685)	(0.070)	(0.048)	(158.421)
unempl_rate1	-96.290	1.729**	1.324***	-951.745
	(82.248)	(0.775)	(0.354)	(1'322.6)
activity_rate	113.786	-1.879***	-1.893***	1'356.3
	(81.637)	(0.646)	(0.586)	(1'948.3)
companies	10.533	-0.170***	-0.160***	122.943
	(7.770)	(0.051)	(0.029)	(164.852)
insolvency	-408.124***	-2.613***	-4.352***	2'061.8
	(105.840)	(0.502)	(0.458)	(2'827.5)
car_journey ²	-44.379**	0.392***	0.454***	-1'031.6**
	(17.381)	(0.104)	(0.107)	(432.284)
carmcycle_	-24.257	0.338***	0.358***	-1'075.3**
journey ²	(17.251)	(0.104)	(0.086)	(459.181)
bicycle_	72.594**	-0.761***	-0.784***	1'562.2**
journey ²	(33.920)	(0.178)	(0.197)	(671.003)
theatre ²	96'003.2***	456.934***	483.482***	-390'004.4**
	(19'513.3)	(103.459)	(75.825)	(186834.0)

Table 5.7: 2SLS Coefficient Estimates Using 2004-2005 as the Threshold.

Second, the examination of the scatterplots in Figure 5.1 suggested a shock in 2005. Therefore, the first- and second-stage regressions have also been performed with this earlier threshold. Corresponding estimates are reported in Table 5.7. While a discontinuity in that moment has been conspicuous, it also needs to be noted that larger gaps of missing observations have occurred between 2000 and 2004. As the new pre-shock period is already short itself, several years with no observations considerably limit the insights that can be gained from the analysis. One suggestion from the new regression output that goes against the expectations and the conclusions from the initial regressions is the inverse impact that has occurred especially frequently for *water_use* and occasionally for *ozone_conc*. The origin of this change is unknown at this point and would require further information and deeper analyses. For *u65_death, soci_assistance,* and *insolvency*, the variables with fewer missing observations and that were already included in the initial regressions, the estimated impacts of

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses, * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01. ¹The F-statistic of these variables is no longer above 10. ²The F-statistic of these was not above 10 in the initial regression.

the shock are overall smaller. At the same time, the associated standard errors are also smaller. Considering that the degrees of significance remain largely unchanged, those estimates might be more accurate than those of the initial regressions. However, it needs to be remembered that this brief analysis of the earlier shock has not studied the conditions that are necessary for unbiased IV estimates. For this reason, it is suggested that this topic is covered in future research.

6 Conclusion

The research question of this study was *what is the causal effect of socio-economic sustainability on environmental sustainability in cities?* To answer this question, this study has quantified the causal effect of social and economic sustainability on environmental sustainability in the city context. As OLS estimates were expected to be biased by simultaneity, the estimation of the causal effect occurred through the application of the shock-based IV method. The shock of the financial crisis of 2007 was used as the instrument that isolates the causality from socio-economic to environmental sustainability significant and provide evidence that in German cities, there is a causality from social to environmental sustainability. More specifically, most estimates suggest a positive relationship between a constraint socio-economic indicator and environmental indicators. This corresponds to the expectation that an improvement in socio-economic sustainability leads to an improvement in environmental sustainability.

6.1 Research Aims

By providing statistically significant evidence of the causal effects of socio-economic to environmental sustainability, this study has reached the aim of adding to a better understanding of the interrelationships between the different pillars of sustainability. To date, the little amount of understanding that exists on these relationships is a large gap in literature.

A further aim of this study has been to contribute to a more uniform approach to the topic of city sustainability. The heterogeneity that exists in the field is a persistent gap in literature, as it impedes the combined development of previous research findings. While creating a more homogenous field of study takes time and numerous studies, this study has put forward the approach that is considered to best fit the topic and has thereby made one small step in this direction.

Some limitations hindered the entire attainment of the study's aims. Due to data unavailability and the suggested strong dependence of results on study location characteristics, this study has been limited to the analysis of 60 German cities. As a consequence, the representativeness of the outcomes is likely to be limited to medium and large cities in Germany. Missing data and gaps in the literature have further limited the application of the Doughnut model. While it was possible to use it as a graphical representation of the context the study belongs in, it was

not possible to determine which planetary boundaries were transgressed and which socioeconomic foundations were not met by the cities in the study sample.

6.2 Practical Implications

Overall, these results support the argument for the necessity of a holistic approach to city sustainability. The findings of this study are of great relevance to a series of actors. First, researchers should consider the existent causalities within sustainability in their studies to truly understand city sustainability. Second, decision- and policy-makers are required to account for the causalities when they make decisions or plan projects. Only then, their actions can target what they aim for. Third, actors that rank cities through their indicators need to include causalities in their assessment to better report cities' sustainability performances.

A further practical implication for public organizations at the city level is their responsibility to collect data. Data collection needs to cover a wide range of indicators and it must be conducted regularly. It is only when high-quality data is available that estimates can truthfully reflect the real world and the nature of the causalities can be understood.

6.3 Future Research

There have been a series of limitations to this study. As a consequence, there are several suggestions for future research. First, it is proposed to conduct the same research at different regional levels. Germany has been the preferred location for the present study due to the relatively high quality and coverage of data. However, to truly understand the causal relationship between socio-economic and environmental sustainability, the relationship should be tested in different environments.

Second, different channels of causality should be investigated. For example, as discussed in Section 4.2., it is expected that the causality not only goes from socio-economic indicators to environmental indicators but also the other way around. Similarly, there may be interesting causal relationships between social and economic sustainability or further pillars of sustainability that have not been touched upon in this study. Quantifying these causal relationships would offer valuable insights into the interplays between different pillars of sustainability and should be taken on by future research.

Third, if more means are available to other researchers, they should invest in accessing higher quality data. On one side, the duration of the studied period should be increased to avoid single events biassing the outcome. On the other side, the choice of indicators should be diversified, especially for the environmental indicators. In the present study, the choice was strongly one-sided and overrepresented air quality. A larger selection of indicators would further allow making more differentiated conclusions about causalities. For example, it can be

studied whether causalities differ when the dimensions operate within the safe and just space for humanity of the Doughnut model, versus when they do not.

Fourth, for the German case, the shock of the introduction of the Agenda 2010, or other alternative shocks, should be investigated. The brief consideration of the shock in 2005 suggests that interesting and complementary results to those in this study might be generated. Thereby, this study's results could be confirmed or contested with a suggestion of a more suitable causal relationship.

By intensifying future research on the topic of city sustainability, cities are given the grounds to respect their responsibilities as important actors in overcoming the current sustainability challenges. In an active discourse, a consensus on efficient and effective practices can be attained, that transform cities into spaces that conserve the environment, that are just to their people, and that allow the economy to flourish.

References

- Abdmouleh, Z., Alammari, R. A. M. & Gastli, A. (2015). Review of Policies Encouraging Renewable Energy Integration & Best Practices, *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 45, pp.249–262, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032115000453?casa_token=t1 yKGrIUJ7MAAAAA:Qe9_KLQErBn797a_8tvEZS3z8pO7aDVbCCQTZGa27o9duu VxPaZueST2AInFMZzrSY0R0YWe [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Ahvenniemi, H., Huovila, A., Pinto-Seppä, I. & Airaksinen, M. (2017). What Are the Differences between Sustainable and Smart Cities?, *Cities*, vol. 60, pp.234–245, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264275116302578?casa_token=G ST_RCJPcCoAAAAA:rCqalskoSDVOWdJt8A8yuEnK3mT8piT9YZhDj7400L0g92o1YUahA3hbcpS9z78C _t427Dp [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Almeida, C. P., Ramos, A. F. & Silva, J. M. (2018). Sustainability Assessment of Building Rehabilitation Actions in Old Urban Centres, *Sustainable Cities and Society*, vol. 36, pp.378–385, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S2210670717305358 [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- Angrist, J. D. & Pischke, J.-S. (2015). Mastering 'Metrics: The Path from Cause to Effect, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Bareras, R. A. (2021). City Planning with the Doughnut in Cali, Colombia, *Doughnut Economics Action Lab*, Available Online: https://doughnuteconomics.org/stories/6 [Accessed 18 April 2022].
- BBSR. (2022). Laufende Stadtbeobachtung Raumabgrenzungen, *BBSR*, Available Online: https://www.bbsr.bund.de/BBSR/DE/forschung/raumbeobachtung/Raumabgrenzunge n/deutschland/gemeinden/StadtGemeindetyp/StadtGemeindetyp.html [Accessed 3 May 2022].
- Bibri, S. E. & Krogstie, J. (2017). Smart Sustainable Cities of the Future: An Extensive Interdisciplinary Literature Review, *Sustainable Cities and Society*, vol. 31, pp.183– 212, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210670716304073?casa_token=A BVrnib2i9UAAAAA:ktFm7IA0zXUgnR8aZgzsXyWWnZH5hvrKqiBCGA1n_2m8c4 fMNltIfaHilErckY_e9RClftGk [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Budsaratragoon, P. & Jitmaneeroj, B. (2019). Measuring Causal Relations and Identifying Critical Drivers for Corporate Sustainability: The Quadruple Bottom Line Approach, *Measuring Business Excellence*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp.292–316, Available Online: https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/MBE-10-2017-0080/full/html?casa_token=ujEEE06riacAAAAA:xy4hBrf1suRMpLtmPJCGQDulrlZ 1qQFd6LLAqRUYcd0m2cvnWXUVWFpdVe4qMSwDi9ZRN3TvCi3sywauycUg4Y 8xxJX-d0R5ijq0jAk7gTfJUbCBMw [Accessed 27 April 2022].
- Cabeza Gutés, M. (1996). The Concept of Weak Sustainability, *Ecological Economics*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp.147–156, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0921800996800036 [Accessed 20 April 2022].

- Castells, M. (2000). Urban Sustainability in the Information Age, *City*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp.118– 122, Available Online: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/713656995?casa_token=qQcZVNFgC5 UAAAAA:hgj2ZjYDs2HZEn55BZ5bV5IXPUzFUObA1JDy8Sfgxt-ioGc-U5KN_nztxSdUSMqLbj1e9DRz2vY [Accessed 9 April 2022].
- City of Amsterdam. (2020). Policy: Circular Economy, *Policy: Sustainability and Energy*, Available Online: https://www.amsterdam.nl/en/policy/sustainability/circulareconomy/ [Accessed 18 April 2022].
- Clemens, M. A., Radelet, S., Bhavnani, R. R. & Bazzi, S. (2012). Counting Chickens When They Hatch: Timing and the Effects of Aid on Growth, *The Economic Journal*, vol. 122, no. 561, pp.590–617, Available Online: https://academic.oup.com/ej/articleabstract/122/561/590/5079624 [Accessed 21 April 2022].
- Cohen, M. (2017). A Systematic Review of Urban Sustainability Assessment Literature, 11, *Sustainability*, vol. 9, no. 11, p.2048, Available Online: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/9/11/2048 [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- DEAL. (2022). Tools & Stories: Cities & Regions, *Doughnut Economics Action Lab*, Available Online: https://doughnuteconomics.org/tools-and-stories?theme%5B%5D=1 [Accessed 18 April 2022].
- DEAL. (2022). Barcelona Embraces the Doughnut, *Doughnut Economics Action Lab*, Available Online: https://doughnuteconomics.org/news/33 [Accessed 18 April 2022].
- Eurostat. (2022). Cities Database, *Database Cities (Urban Audit) Eurostat*, Available Online: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/cities/data/database [Accessed 12 April 2022].
- Ezeh, A. C., Bongaarts, J. & Mberu, B. (2012). Global Population Trends and Policy Options, *The Lancet*, vol. 380, no. 9837, pp.142–148, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673612606965?casa_token=L On-yBgXHhAAAAAA:n-9Rs-2HRtIf-R7amUsdQarGB79mOdmkd1onKNDeLv8cJf5IDl7hKWrHRyhHc6_YyL6XfVag [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Fanning, A. L., O'Neill, D. W., Hickel, J. & Roux, N. (2022). The Social Shortfall and Ecological Overshoot of Nations, 1, *Nature Sustainability*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp.26–36, Available Online: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-021-00799-z [Accessed 19 May 2022].
- Folke, C., Jansson, Å., Rockström, J., Olsson, P., Carpenter, S. R., Chapin, F. S., Crépin, A.-S., Daily, G., Danell, K., Ebbesson, J., Elmqvist, T., Galaz, V., Moberg, F., Nilsson, M., Österblom, H., Ostrom, E., Persson, Å., Peterson, G., Polasky, S., Steffen, W., Walker, B. & Westley, F. (2011). Reconnecting to the Biosphere, *AMBIO*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp.719–738, Available Online: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s13280-011-0184-y [Accessed 27 April 2022].
- Fu, Y. & Zhang, X. (2017). Trajectory of Urban Sustainability Concepts: A 35-Year Bibliometric Analysis, *Cities*, vol. 60, pp.113–123, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264275116304188?casa_token=4 6-v209N-vwAAAAA:_GWN9WLXJtU52ZLGU90nJO6pjSk2rk4u-BFNNX-Yx1Pf3wqF5L7K1fo6qPeLT0iEPyEaRysz [Accessed 9 April 2022].
- Gasparatos, A. & Scolobig, A. (2012). Choosing the Most Appropriate Sustainability Assessment Tool, *Ecological Economics*, vol. 80, pp.1–7, Available Online: http://www.gasparatos-

lab.org/uploads/7/6/6/1/76614589/gasparatos_and_scolobig_2012_ecological_econom ic.pdf [Accessed 3 April 2022].

- Gibberd, J. (2017). Strengthening Sustainability Planning: The City Capability Framework, *Procedia Engineering*, vol. 198, pp.200–211, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877705817329284 [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- Gibson, D. V., Kozmetsky, G. & Smilor, R. W. (1992). The Technopolis Phenomenon: Smart Cities, Fast Systems, Global Networks, [e-book] Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc., Available Online: https://books.google.se/books?id=_NxMwZfAafYC&printsec=frontcover&source=gb s_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false [Accessed 2 April 2022].
- Gold, K. (2021). Nanaimo First Canadian City to Adopt 'Doughnut Economy', *Sustainable Biz Canada*, Available Online: https://sustainablebiz.ca/nanaimo-first-canadian-city-adopt-doughnut-economy/ [Accessed 18 April 2022].
- Goldman, T. & Gorham, R. (2006). Sustainable Urban Transport: Four Innovative Directions, *Technology in Society*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp.261–273, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0160791X05000606?casa_token=0 wO7h7xLiO4AAAAA:--DIyJ1EI0l2RrqQZIKjpB6qohOgApZjNmjPxIVRnUIlztye5SqspDdanjMmwEvPMiH ZxQdo [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Haarstad, H. (2017). Constructing the Sustainable City: Examining the Role of Sustainability in the 'Smart City' Discourse, *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp.423–437, Available Online: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/1523908X.2016.1245610?casa_token= keMoObQSiD0AAAAA%3AUnbkHTEDRcssPZb1eXkGI50jQ_vadkhZTIjdleHKJrU sVN8tR20MrCGEp08f0O-Cz65Nz11iUgY [Accessed 2 April 2022].
- Hammer, J. & Pivo, G. (2017). The Triple Bottom Line and Sustainable Economic Development Theory and Practice, *Economic Development Quarterly*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp.25–36, Available Online: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0891242416674808?casa_token=2tWa9 m3XRMQAAAAA%3AzjuWjo78oLkuHp6asXcbT15LIkm413oX_0s-ep8eqwkV0pO2BOyCnTHsiHoQwBbgGrrn2G1Wh6c [Accessed 12 April 2022].
- Hendriks, C., Forsell, N., Kiesewetter, G., Schaap, M. & Schöpp, W. (2016). Ozone Concentrations and Damage for Realistic Future European Climate and Air Quality Scenarios, *Atmospheric Environment*, vol. 144, pp.208–219, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1352231016306197?casa_token=R 00L_oeILssAAAAA:0iKBgfLKce75GQWIo2LnHHf0sH3RhfF2B4QYRToOAc0i0Bj -9C2HCG8AkTnLyMTR-s8KIVvqqGFo [Accessed 26 May 2022].
- Hobbie, S. E. & Grimm, N. B. (2020). Nature-Based Approaches to Managing Climate Change Impacts in Cities, *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 375, no. 1794, p.20190124, Available Online: https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/full/10.1098/rstb.2019.0124 [Accessed 19 April 2022].
- Holden, E., Linnerud, K. & Banister, D. (2014). Sustainable Development: Our Common Future Revisited, *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 26, pp.130–139, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378014000727 [Accessed 4 April 2022].

- Kaur, H. & Garg, P. (2019). Urban Sustainability Assessment Tools: A Review, Journal of Cleaner Production, vol. 210, pp.146–158, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652618334097?casa_token=B tUq81_kW4wAAAAA:gFnQTAHDnUvCjz5FvE3pxMSaveWdiPS8znaMLSgVaL4e7 ptjBsh-pUpWVUKkQzDLM3Q8U_qh [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- Kawakubo, S., Murakami, S., Ikaga, T. & Asami, Y. (2018). Sustainability Assessment of Cities: SDGs and GHG Emissions, *Building Research & Information*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp.528–539, Available Online: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09613218.2017.1356120 [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- Koop, S. H. A. & van Leeuwen, C. J. (2017). The Challenges of Water, Waste and Climate Change in Cities, *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp.385–418, Available Online: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10668-016-9760-4 [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Krejcie, R. V. & Morgan, D. W. (1970). Determining Sample Size for Research Activities, *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp.607–610, Available Online: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/001316447003000308 [Accessed 6 May 2022].
- Lee, S., Geum, Y., Lee, H. & Park, Y. (2012). Dynamic and Multidimensional Measurement of Product-Service System (PSS) Sustainability: A Triple Bottom Line (TBL)-Based System Dynamics Approach, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 32, pp.173–182, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652612001801?casa_token=r HRVCGsCh_8AAAAA:YUzoTyJMuwzeobcjGZXXYv_qGyg8G0uP8zk9uXbbV7xto CGxdU2Ku93tu8U9YNuc24yNKLsK [Accessed 27 April 2022].
- Li, W. & Yi, P. (2020). Assessment of City Sustainability—Coupling Coordinated Development among Economy, Society and Environment, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 256, p.120453, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S095965262030500X?casa_token=x kxYJKE6z60AAAAA:XuqV8qB0BNIecnXmNKnF4wnO-9Bg8KSXwTLJJ_10ArxbLbVD4ubynmxQzqyIfGnY9Z4d6wj3 [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- Mio, C., Panfilo, S. & Blundo, B. (2020). Sustainable Development Goals and the Strategic Role of Business: A Systematic Literature Review, *Business Strategy and the Environment*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp.3220–3245, Available Online: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/bse.2568?casa_token=3JIZYz4G-5gAAAAA%3ABc8vlUfejvpiuKH_9H9PM5EfIWqvG1Tdq4z1RXus9jV9DzD3Bw1 21NA_5B2Hg2Ig9URz6RG1dJ- [Accessed 11 May 2022].
- Mirshojaeian Hosseini, H. & Kaneko, S. (2012). Causality between Pillars of Sustainable Development: Global Stylized Facts or Regional Phenomena?, *Ecological Indicators*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp.197–201, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X11002111?casa_token= VR8f4yTzR68AAAAA:3cZ4fW4HKUDTzHZiLCbxMyrgYeC-4IBAoVEII_ljHwaEw_EpRXQAMF17Gvw2IRZp0dLpuf8v [Accessed 17 April 2022].
- Mora, L., Bolici, R. & Deakin, M. (2017). The First Two Decades of Smart-City Research: A Bibliometric Analysis, *Journal of Urban Technology*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp.3–27, Available Online: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10630732.2017.1285123?casa_token= DII_XiG9H7wAAAAA%3AdQjCl7NZhoQ_xCphhVwFbgy4GtAb-

Ea_I_wqIDUI255ca7Wac1QocKZkePdxBPhkf7aGBAcNFFY [Accessed 2 April 2022].

- Mori, K. & Christodoulou, A. (2012). Review of Sustainability Indices and Indicators: Towards a New City Sustainability Index (CSI), *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp.94–106, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195925511000758?casa_token=y mR2DP_PJcMAAAAA:pUvlH1u_peU0obnAWVioWBUIpViwmSMu0RDPz7r6gNe qA8EaqV-g31F_kD3W7HTgb5hnim70 [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- Mori, K. & Yamashita, T. (2015). Methodological Framework of Sustainability Assessment in City Sustainability Index (CSI): A Concept of Constraint and Maximisation Indicators, *Habitat International*, vol. 45, pp.10–14, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0197397514000897?casa_token=fe ogVRnhi8YAAAAA:SU7DyI0zWuu9mKa9nsRbx9QipwpkHxZ_6IoicvowB3OLmno _qNh9eDl3LRdfZGgd8hdVQdq3 [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- OECD. (2008). Handbook on Constructing Composite Indicators: Methodology and User Guide, [e-book] Paris: OECD Publications, Available Online: https://www.oecdilibrary.org/economics/handbook-on-constructing-composite-indicators-methodologyand-user-guide_9789264043466-en [Accessed 6 May 2022].
- Oldenburg, C. E., Moscoe, E. & Bärnighausen, T. (2016). Regression Discontinuity for Causal Effect Estimation in Epidemiology, *Current Epidemiology Reports*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp.233–241, Available Online: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40471-016-0080-x [Accessed 28 April 2022].
- Ötker-Robe, I. & Podpiera, A. M. (2013). The Social Impact of Financial Crises: Evidence from the Global Financial Crisis, [e-book] The World Bank, Available Online: http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/book/10.1596/1813-9450-6703 [Accessed 14 April 2022].
- Pacca, L., Antonarakis, A., Schröder, P. & Antoniades, A. (2020). The Effect of Financial Crises on Air Pollutant Emissions: An Assessment of the Short vs. Medium-Term Effects, *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 698, p.133614, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969719335399?casa_token=b B8Ag4vhUIYAAAAA:N7AgAqZj0J5cOSSuTw86ykBb4zheWOgnr2F0CVVaY9wm Vh0YdP4i_C9fEMRaNcz8aNE7YPnH [Accessed 14 April 2022].
- Phillis, Y. A., Kouikoglou, V. S. & Verdugo, C. (2017). Urban Sustainability Assessment and Ranking of Cities, *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, vol. 64, pp.254–265, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0198971516302630?casa_token=S fDKuDVPQnoAAAAA:Ir_6ovspJw_iRKFQc3yngIVagOQE28Gp9ZzmtFydWA2PDa GHBNytUKA850qyn_mM7P94E3uh [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- Portney, K. E. & Berry, J. M. (2010). Participation and the Pursuit of Sustainability in U.S. Cities, Urban Affairs Review, vol. 46, no. 1, pp.119–139, Available Online: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1078087410366122?casa_token=TXDn Pbq5NVMAAAAA:0xbkI32jH4lpF83jpj5LOJZxwUuRG_WHVosE7sVVdr0RA2Kn b2CiXLaC93Kf04ufWKRKyFi2w4E [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Purvis, B., Mao, Y. & Robinson, D. (2019). Three Pillars of Sustainability: In Search of Conceptual Origins, *Sustainability Science*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp.681–695, Available Online: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11625-018-0627-5 [Accessed 10 May 2022].

- Quested, T. E., Parry, A. D., Easteal, S. & Swannell, R. (2011). Food and Drink Waste from Households in the UK, *Nutrition Bulletin*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp.460–467, Available Online: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1467-3010.2011.01924.x?casa_token=lqecAzbpFGkAAAAA%3AJ1ugegxFwkq5DYJQBoi Kf_1U7SPtWg_Hsy3mN7yju1lIqvkHTMMU04Oo2CUEHfV96awQeaceFzqs [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Raworth, K. (2017). Doughnut Economics: Seven Ways to Think Like a 21st-Century Economist, 1st edn, London: Random House Business Books.
- Reed, W. R. (2015). On the Practice of Lagging Variables to Avoid Simultaneity, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, vol. 77, no. 6, pp.897–905, Available Online: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/obes.12088?casa_token=kChxzXttcX kAAAAA%3AhpaR5UYzPSEkrDXj76WAIQIGf_LL1qLB1TIW6pTPrMqejEktdj_ol MIMifCPXWDAeMMv8O6lz--v [Accessed 21 April 2022].
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E., Lenton, T. M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H. J., Nykvist, B., de Wit, C. A., Hughes, T., van der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P. K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., Falkenmark, M., Karlberg, L., Corell, R. W., Fabry, V. J., Hansen, J., Walker, B., Liverman, D., Richardson, K., Crutzen, P. & Foley, J. (2009). Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity, *Ecology and Society*, [e-journal] vol. 14, no. 2, Available Online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/26268316 [Accessed 18 April 2022].
- Russo, A. P. & Tatjer, L. C. (2007). From Citadels of Education to Cartier Latins (and Back?): The Changing Landscapes of Student Populations in European Cities, *Geography Compass*, vol. 1, no. 5, pp.1160–1189, Available Online: https://compass.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1749-8198.2007.00056.x?casa_token=VZqGdGnfl_sAAAAA%3ApFxmslY6eAtBS8-FSSZXvkuzfnXr-ygaaXd7xE5s-suzmqSqkEYSAYIGSTLjBQsrKwsY2eIA__CH [Accessed 4 April 2022].
- Sala, S., Ciuffo, B. & Nijkamp, P. (2015). A Systemic Framework for Sustainability Assessment, *Ecological Economics*, vol. 119, pp.314–325, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0921800915003821 [Accessed 10 April 2022].
- Shmelev, S. E. & Shmeleva, I. A. (2018). Global Urban Sustainability Assessment: A Multidimensional Approach, *Sustainable Development*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp.904–920, Available Online: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/sd.1887?casa_token=VsdUOFH_DF0 AAAAA%3AOi__oonMxH8g4h1dj8qXET0-sh6PvctxWyP6Zk0t02ZrtAx_KG086xQr-SFno9QYolRY8Cg1y2 [Accessed 9 April 2022].
- Shmelev, S. E. & Shmeleva, I. A. (2019). Multidimensional Sustainability Benchmarking for Smart Megacities, Cities, vol. 92, pp.134–163, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264275118305080?casa_token=_ xxR1EmG2xoAAAAA:SHnIVxCTuAEw50DSKFet15eDcZbjOTqpYXgvFBX2SSw6 sYqEDkbuhz5ZjwHw0R1j8_PizxKo [Accessed 9 April 2022].
- Sodiq, A., Baloch, A. A. B., Khan, S. A., Sezer, N., Mahmoud, S., Jama, M. & Abdelaal, A. (2019). Towards Modern Sustainable Cities: Review of Sustainability Principles and Trends, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 227, pp.972–1001, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652619311837?casa_token=A vxZ110xjsgAAAAA:pP7N18_dyT0GFn6s9UJVLM7BGgwBJfVDZnVXktqb-cufu-Rdm88lqGZIcXerkq6Ux4mo_51F [Accessed 4 April 2022].

- Solow, R. M. (1986). On the Intergenerational Allocation of Natural Resources, *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp.141–149, Available Online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/3440280?casa_token=jRtGSIkpn3AAAAAA%3AE8sNfc 4ho3yQWv93xdxPKR5uMvYfn6oUJp2o6p9WVjBNmr7iwIJ9Fu33xm3IAns5L4YLV J3GIQ0LN4wX3s4iXoAvn-kvA7AJ97QTI9gtCFTti8uklg&seq=2 [Accessed 27 April 2022].
- Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder. (2022). Regionaldatenbank Deutschland, Available Online: https://www.regionalstatistik.de/genesis/online [Accessed 28 April 2022].
- Statistisches Bundesamt. (2020). Gemeinden in Deutschland nach Gemeindegrößenklassen 2020, *Statista*, Available Online: https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/1254/umfrage/anzahl-der-gemeinden-indeutschland-nach-gemeindegroessenklassen/ [Accessed 17 April 2022].
- Svensson, G., Ferro, C., Høgevold, N., Padin, C., Carlos Sosa Varela, J. & Sarstedt, M. (2018). Framing the Triple Bottom Line Approach: Direct and Mediation Effects between Economic, Social and Environmental Elements, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 197, pp.972–991, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652618318821?casa_token=D IRPFY_eudIAAAAA:0t1N_3gSZHetEW_qokOr-rigsljpa9MuoVuE5BIAmwbhEeEIhxZrGIFhpW9RshCOKNrCfOib [Accessed 7 May 2022].
- Thornbush, M. & Golubchikov, O. (2021). Smart Energy Cities: The Evolution of the City-Energy-Sustainability Nexus, *Environmental Development*, vol. 39, p.100626, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211464521000208?casa_token=5 sdNrmQKurgAAAAA:0mjlH_ASAmZCZqxeIoFARKbdWNjxbqcbeUGvfPNNxYO UdR_1Le613bFkF8KZ9cyw4jmnXCnD [Accessed 2 April 2022].
- Trudel, R. (2019). Sustainable Consumer Behavior, *Consumer Psychology Review*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp.85–96, Available Online: https://myscp.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/arcp.1045?casa_token=0tfnX_ SPiocAAAAA%3AqznoHwSik3qVVRmMzwUAFRmEYCv5SKhhrCGxX4ztqdtVXhqAsX-HAU4RmviTwOG7xlc8IO45ZYH [Accessed 11 May 2022].
- UN-Habitat. (2021a). Global Environment for Cities-GEO for Cities: Towards Green and Just Cities, Nairobi: UNEP, p.146, Available Through: 12/04/2022 https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/2021/11/geocities_updated.pdf.
- UN-Habitat. (2021b). City Prosperity Index, UN-Habitat Urban Indicators Database, Available Online: https://data.unhabitat.org/pages/city-prosperity-index [Accessed 3 April 2022].
- UN-Habitat. (2022). Annual Report 2021, UN-Habitat, pp.1–52, Available Online: https://unhabitat.org/annual-report-2021 [Accessed 10 May 2022].
- Wang, L. & Lin, L. (2007). A Methodological Framework for the Triple Bottom Line Accounting and Management of Industry Enterprises, *International Journal of Production Research*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp.1063–1088, Available Online: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00207540600635136?casa_token=vBo GNrb9P0YAAAAA%3A5aN4YictBt_nFfkEu5q3D7UsPeJL4GOo6IrjC2CYtWsA04o y1C_mfDLrPSYdIU3du5KRbDrNnpo [Accessed 2022].
- Wang, X., Van Wart, M. & Lebredo, N. (2014). Sustainability Leadership in a Local Government Context: The Administrator's Role in the Process, *Public Performance &*

Management Review, vol. 37, no. 3, pp.339–364, Available Online: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.2753/PMR1530-9576370301?casa_token=9IVrH2rZSj0AAAAA:Xas29W6MpTjIG20CFXgDBxCaN DacX_gCzjqhDBadtwCGuZKxYU3FbK_u4AIcFC1ONxV2wMb1XZQ [Accessed 12 May 2022].

- Wilke, S. (2021). Ozon-Belastung, *Umweltbundesamt*, Available Online: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/daten/luft/ozon-belastung [Accessed 1 May 2022].
- Wilson, M. C. & Wu, J. (2017). The Problems of Weak Sustainability and Associated Indicators, International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology, vol. 24, no. 1, pp.44–51, Available Online: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13504509.2015.1136360?casa_token= WNBmvwpeJuQAAAAA%3AKk6nwhcpD0a1v6B6cvWxN91bmonfAdyYmIPRIVal ahqdFsbVHUUI7XJJnizkOGLgzoiI0qlL7LQ [Accessed 20 April 2022].
- World Commission on Environment and Development. (1987). Our Common Future, Oxford: Oxford University Press, Available Online: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/5987our-commonfuture.pdf [Accessed 9 April 2022].
- World Council on City Data. (2022). ISO 37120, About ISO 37120 Indicators for Sustainable Cities, Available Online: https://www.dataforcities.org/iso-37120 [Accessed 10 April 2022].
- Wu, J. (2013). Landscape Sustainability Science: Ecosystem Services and Human Well-Being in Changing Landscapes, *Landscape Ecology*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp.999–1023, Available Online: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10980-013-9894-9 [Accessed 20 April 2022].
- Yigitcanlar, T., Kamruzzaman, Md., Foth, M., Sabatini-Marques, J., da Costa, E. & Ioppolo, G. (2019). Can Cities Become Smart without Being Sustainable? A Systematic Review of the Literature, *Sustainable Cities and Society*, vol. 45, pp.348–365, Available Online: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221067071831268X?casa_token=z 7IbJy1R6e4AAAAA:1dJ31uJ877JEsH6YFUUC_5N9BHBKAj33bvq7ZfLNPgQPRE BgWcYQJ8967zn9txnSaOvtrA8f [Accessed 2 April 2022].
- Yin, C., Xiong, Z., Chen, H., Wang, J., Cooper, D. & David, B. (2015). A Literature Survey on Smart Cities, *Science China Information Sciences*, vol. 58, no. 10, pp.1–18, Available Online: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11432-015-5397-4 [Accessed 2 April 2022].

Appendix A: Previous Research and Theoretical Framework



Figure A.1: Doughnut model for Germany, 2007. Source: Fanning et al. (2022).

Notes: LS=life satisfaction, LE=life expectancy, NU=nutrition, SA=sanitation, IN=income poverty, EN=access to energy, ED=secondary education, SS=social support, DQ=democratic quality, EQ=equality, EM=employment.

Appendix B: Data

Aachen	Erfurt	Kiel	Osnabrück
Augsburg	Erlangen	Krefeld	Pforzheim
Berlin	Essen	Köln	Potsdam
Bielefeld	Frankfurt (Oder)	Leipzig	Reutlingen
	Frankfurt am		
Bonn	Main	Leverkusen	Rostock
Braunschweig	Freiburg i.B.	Ludwigshafen	Saarbrücken
Bremen	Gelsenkirchen	Lübeck	Solingen
Bremerhaven	Gera	Magdeburg	Stuttgart
Chemnitz	Göttingen	Mainz	Trier
Cottbus	Halle (Saale)	Mannheim	Ulm
Darmstadt	Hamburg	Mönchengladbach	Weimar
Dortmund	Hannover	Mülheim a.d.Ruhr	Wiesbaden
Dresden	Ingolstadt	München	Wolfsburg
Duisburg	Jena	Münster	Wuppertal
Düsseldorf	Karlsruhe	Nürnberg	Würzburg

Table B.1: List of Cities in the Study Sample.



Figure B.1: Adaptation of the Doughnut Used in this Study (authors illustration, inspired by Raworth, 2017, p. 50).



Appendix C: Empirical Analysis

Figure C.1: Scatterplots for remaining variables with linear pre- and post-shock trendline, 2000-2013.



Continuation of Figure C.1: Scatterplots for remaining variables with linear pre- and postshock trendline, 2000-2013.

Notes: (1), (8) and (10)-(14) are reported in the number per 1000 persons of the total population, (2)-(7) and (15) as percentages and (9) in m^2 .



Figure C.2: Scatterplots for (1) daycare, (2) inf_mortality, (3) u65_death, (4) road_death, (5) soc_assistance, (6) soc_housing, (7) unempl_rate, (8) activity_rate, (9) companies and (10) insolvency, with fourth order polynomial pre- and post-shock trendline, 2000-2013.



Continuation of Figure C.2: Scatterplots for (1) daycare, (2) inf_mortality, (3) u65_death, (4) road_death, (5) soc_assistance, (6) soc_housing, (7) unempl_rate, (8) activity_rate, (9) companies and (10) insolvency, with fourth order polynomial pre- and post-shock trendline, 2000-2013.

Table C.1: Overview of the Algebraic Signs Necessary for an Improvement of Sustainability for Different Combinations of Constraint and Maximization Indicators.

		Explained variable		
		Constraint indicator	Maximization indicator	
Explanatory variable	Constraint indicator (lower value improves sustainability)	positive estimate	negative estimate	
	Maximization indicator (higher value improves sustainability)	negative estimate	positive estimate	